Proceedings of the 21<sup>st</sup> International Ship and Offshore Structures Congress (ISSC 2022) – Xiaozhi Wang and Neil Pegg (Eds.)

Copyright 2022, International Ship and Offshore Structures Congress (ISSC). Permission to Distribute – The Society of Naval Architects & Marine Engineers (SNAME)



Volume 2

# COMMITTEE V.6 OCEAN SPACE UTILIZATION

#### **COMMITTEE MANDATE**

Concern for investigation and applications of ships, offshore structures and engineering equipment for ocean space utilization in the context of marine resource exploitation, human habitation and other marine infrastructure. Focus should be given to fluid-structure interaction associated with large marine structures and structural flexibility. Due consideration should be given to the comparison of modelling approaches, existing and emerging guidance & best practices.

#### **AUTHORS/COMMITTEE MEMBERS**

Chairman: Sebastian Schreier Felice Arena Harry Bingham Nuno Fonseca Zhiqiang Hu Debabrata Karmakar Ekaterina Kim Hui Li Pengfei Liu Motohiko Murai Spiro J Pahos Chao Tian George Wang

#### **KEYWORDS**

Ocean Space Utilization; VLFS; Hydroelasticity; Coupled Mooring Analysis; Multi-body Hydrodynamics; Floating Cities; Floating Airport; Offshore Aquaculture; Offshore Floating Photovoltaics; Floating Offshore Wind Turbines; Risk Assessment; Rules and Regulations

## CONTENTS

1.	INTI	RODUC	TION				
2.	ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS						
	2.1	1 Design conditions					
	2.2 Extreme waves		ne waves				
		2.2.1	Extreme waves in the space-time domain				
	2.3	3 Wind-wave-current-shoreline interaction in coastal regions					
	2.4	Furthe	er environmental aspects of OSU structures				
3.	GLO	BAL LO	OADING, MOTIONS, AND STRUCTURAL RESPONSES				
	3.1	Chara	cteristics of VLFS structures	390			
	3.2	Hydro	elastic modelling approaches	391			
		3.2.1	Classical hydroelasticity modelling	391			
		3.2.2	Inhomogeneous incident waves				
		3.2.3	Shallow water effects				
		3.2.4	Seabed topography effect	393			
		3.2.5	Numerical methods and tools for hydroelasticity analysis	395			
	3.3	Multi-	-body hydrodynamics				
		3.3.1	Resonant motions in the gaps				
	3.4	Conne	ector loads and responses				
		3.4.1	Equivalent mechanical connector models for VLFS				
		3.4.2	Dynamic response characteristics of connectors				
	3.5	Struct	ural response				
	0.0	3.5.1	Physical and structural nonlinearity	399			
		352	Reduction of structural response	399			
	36	Other	technologies in design and analysis	400			
	5.0	361	Basin experiment technology	400			
		362	On-site testing technology	400			
		3.6.2	Cost effective design	404			
	3.7	Challe	enges and future trends				
4	POS	ITIONII	NG & MOORING	405			
т.	<u> </u>	Classi	fication of station keeping systems	405			
	т.1		Dolphing	405			
		$\frac{1}{1}$	Mooring lines	406			
		4.1.2	Dynamia positioning	400			
		4.1.3	Noval macring technologies and arrangements	408			
	4.2	4.1.4 Smooid	Nover mooring technologies and arrangements				
	4.2		I problems of moorning analysis for OSU				
		4.2.1	Hydro-elastic responses				
		4.2.2					
		4.2.3	Hydrodynamics of fish cages with nets				
		4.2.4	Inhomogeneous wave conditions				
		4.2.5	Seabed effects				
	4.3	Challe	enges and future trends	413			
5.	RUL	ES, REO	GULATIONS, BEST PRACTICE	413			
	5.1	Comp	lex regime of rules and regulations	413			
	5.2	Influe	nces of other industries	415			
	5.3	Enviro	onmental concerns				
	5.4	Some technical challenges					
6	RISK	ASSE	SSMENT	418			
0.	1101						

	6.1	Known unknowns	419
	6.2	Aquaculture (Norwegian perspective)	
	6.3	Offshore Floating Photovoltaics	
	6.4	Floating Offshore Wind Turbines	
	6.5	Mooring systems	
7.	CON	CLUSIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS	
	7.1	Environmental conditions	
	7.2	Global loading, motions, and structural response	
	7.3	Positioning and mooring	
	7.4	Rules, regulations, best practices	
	7.5	Risk assessment	
	7.6	Recommendations	
RE	FERE	NCES	

## 1. INTRODUCTION

In the light of rising sea level, scarcity of land-based resources and increasingly populated coastal areas, interest of project developers and countries turns towards the ocean, exploring the possibilities of utilizing this space for various purposes. With the oceans covering roughly 70% of the Earth's surface and more than half of the world's population clustered in coastal areas, the oceans are a natural direction to turn to.

Ocean Space Utilization (OSU), i.e., the use of ocean waters and/or the seabed for human activities, is by no means new. Shipping and fishing in ocean waters date back millennia. During the last century, aquaculture of seafood production developed into a global industry. Also, the seabed has provided minerals (mostly sand) as building material. Recently, the marine mining industry experienced a development from traditional sand dredging to deep sea mining for precious or rare mineral resources. The offshore oil and gas industry developed from first wooden platforms in the shallow coastal waters of the Gulf of Mexico to Floating Production Storage and Offloading systems and subsea equipment in more than 2000 m water depth offshore Brazil. More recently, the wind energy industry followed the steps of the oil and gas industry and moved from land-based installations first to shallow coastal waters with bottom-founded wind turbines and now starts developing offshore floating wind turbines for larger water depth and greater distances to shore. Marine Renewable Energies (MRE) including Wave Energy Converters (WEC), flow turbines for electricity production from ocean or tidal currents, and Ocean Thermal Energy Conversion (OTEC) are emerging. Another recent form of renewable energy production on the ocean are Offshore Floating Photovoltaic (OFPV) Installations (Karpouzoglou et al., 2020; Trapani & Millar, 2016; Trapani & Redón Santafé, 2015). Furthermore, marine infrastructure projects of floating airports (Suzuki, 2005), floating bridges and submerged tunnels (Moan & Eidem, 2020; Watanabe et al., 2015), floating oil storage terminals (Ueda, 2015; Zhang et al., 2020), floating logistics hubs/ports (Waals et al., 2018), a floating event stage (Koh and Lim, 2015), as well as even entire floating cities (Callebaut, 2015) are discussed in the literature. Eventually, recreational use and ocean research also belong to the broad field of Ocean Space Utilization.

As an inventory of Ocean Space Utilization projects, this committee gathered as many OSU projects as possible in various stages (from concept study to commercial project) and from various fields in a project atlas based on Google maps. Offshore oil and gas projects are excluded from the atlas to prevent overloading it. Figure 1.1 shows a screenshot of the project atlas with a global overview of all projects. The projects can be grouped and color-coded by OSU field or by project status as shown in the two columns on the right of the figure. At the time of writing, this project atlas contained 235 projects. Even without offshore oil and gas projects, the energy field, comprising mainly offshore wind farms, dominates the list with 90 projects. Two other large fields of OSU are food production, i.e., mainly (offshore) aquaculture with 46 projects, and infrastructure projects (35) like floating bridges and airports. From the project list by field, it is apparent that there are many projects associated with more than one field. This signifies the new trend of multi-use ocean space utilization. An example for this multi-use is mussel farming within an offshore wind farm (see Edulis project in food & energy field). Regarding the project stage, the project entries range from mere concepts and research projects to fully operational structures. The database behind this project atlas contains more information on the individual projects with details on the field (use), project name and location, coordinates, the associated institution as well as a link for further information. The project atlas is available under the following link:

https://www.google.com/maps/d/u/0/edit?mid=19csABz093PieNrkwVvbdXYWkjHjpjOSR&ll=4.4954840168199155%2C0&z=2.

Please note the project database is not complete and is not automatically updated. However, it provides a good overview of OSU activities and can serve a starting point for future dataset development.



Figure 1.1: Screenshot of the OSU project atlas with project classification based on project stage (left column) or project field (right column and map coloring).

From the project atlas, there is a clear geographical concentration of the OSU projects in South-East Asia and Europe with considerably less projects in American and African waters. In Europe, there is a clear distinction between mainly Offshore Wind Farms in the North Sea and Baltic Sea on the one hand and dominating offshore aquaculture projects along the Norwegian coast. In Asia, there are predominantly aquaculture and floating infrastructure projects.

The type of floating structure that is used or proposed for projects in the different OSU fields of the project atlas is summarized in Table 1.1. It is apparent that many OSU fields consider Very Large Floating Structures (VLFS). According to (Suzuki et al., 2006), VLFS "may be thought of as potential megaprojects given their anticipated length scales, displacements and estimated costs (i.e.,  $10^3 - 10^4$  m,  $10^6 - 10^7$  tons, and 5bn-15bn \$US, respectively)".

In the original source, Suzuki et al. (2006) considered a monolithic floating structure that drew its flexibility from the elastic bending of the structure itself. More recent projects consider modular structures of interconnected floaters that form a combined floating structure. In terms of dimensions, displacement, and costs, these Modular Floating Structures (MFS) also match Suzuki's definition of a VLFS. In MFS, the individual floater may be considered a rigid body and the flexibility comes from the interconnections. An example of an MFS is described by Waals et al., (2018) for a floating mega island made up of triangular floaters.

The third group of large floating structures with potentially equally large horizontal dimensions and investments as Suzuki's VLFS are the floating membranes considered for OFPV installations (e.g. Trapani & Millar, 2016). However, these structures, by definition of a membrane, have negligible structural bending stiffness due to very small height. Also, their draft is considerably smaller than that of monolithic or modular VLFS.

Apart from VLFS and floating membranes, deep sea mining is likely to use more conventional, ship-like structures, which are dealt with by other ISSC committees. Offshore wind turbines (bottom founded and floating) are primarily considered by the ISSC2022-V.4 committee on Offshore Renewable Energy.

In this committee, the focus was placed on floating structures for human habitation and infrastructure as well as food production (aquaculture) as the two large groups of the project atlas after excluding offshore wind farms. The typical structures considered for floating logistics islands, floating airports, floating cities, or similar projects have horizontal areas of more than 1 square kilometer. On the other hand, the draft and depth of the structures is limited to only several meters (only counting the floating support structure, excluding any superstructures). Furthermore, these projects are mostly considered in coastal waters with limited water depth. As floating infrastructure projects, the service life of the structures is commonly envisaged to be 50 to 100 years and thus longer than for conventional ships and even most offshore oil and gas platforms.

OSU field	Structure type				
	Monolithic VLFS	Modular VLFS	Floating membrane	other	
Floating infrastructure (ports/airports/bridges)	Х	X			
Floating cities	Х	х			
Food production (fish farms/aquaculture)		X		net cages	
Deep sea mining				Ships, subsea equipment	
Offshore renewable energy production OFPV OWT WEC		x	X	Bottom- founded/floating wind turbine	
OTEC				Ship-like structure	

Table 1.1: Overview of OSU structures

The large structural dimensions, together with the location in shallow coastal waters, and long service life, lead to several challenges for OSU structures from different perspectives. From an environmental loading point of view, due to the size of the structure, the environmental conditions can be significantly different across the structure. This is partly due to blocking and shield-ing effects of the structure itself and partly due to the spatial variability of the environmental conditions. One prominent example for different environmental conditions is a locally varying bathymetry, which combined with shallow water can significantly affect the motion response of the floating structure.

From a hydrodynamic and structural perspective, the hydroelastic effects of monolithic and modular VLFS need to be reviewed. Considering that monolithic VLFS are likely to be built up on site from smaller units and MFS consist of individual interconnected floaters, connectors are used to keep the individual units and modules together. These connectors are focal points for the loads in the structures. Therefore, their design requires careful attention and due consideration of the hydroelastic coupling effects among the individual floaters in the motions and loading analysis of the structures.

Closely connected to the motions and loading analysis are the mooring systems. For VLFS, these mooring systems are not easily transferable from other large floating structures due to considerable interaction of the mooring system with the floating structures, especially for MFS and floating membranes.

Also, from a broader technical and societal perspective, OSU involving VLFS poses some challenges. There is very little experience with these structures and, therefore, hardly any industry

guidelines and standards exist. Furthermore, standards from e.g., the offshore oil and gas industry are not easily transferable. From a societal acceptance point of view, risk assessment of OSU projects as well as a regulatory framework are required. For the risk assessment, the procedures of the offshore industry might be applicable. However, the hazards and the consequences can differ considerably, e.g., due to the number of people in a floating city compared to an offshore oil platform. The current regulatory framework for structures at sea knows ships and (industrial) offshore structures that have an owner and a single responsible person on board. This is likely to change for floating ports and cities. Therefore, new ownership models, regulations, and legislation are required for financing and eventually operating large-scale OSU projects.

This report addresses the aspects of environmental conditions particular to these large structures in Section 2. The main focus of the report is on the loads and global response of the structures in waves presented in Section 3, followed by an overview of station keeping methods and their challenges in Section 4. The hydrodynamics and the hydroelastic problem of both monolithic and modular floating structures has received much scientific attention over the past 15 years since the dedicated VLFS ISSC committee in 2006. Therefore, this committee placed the emphasis for the hydroelastic research of very large floating structures. Section 5 zooms out from the structures and provides an overview of risk assessment approaches for OSU projects based on the examples of Offshore Aquaculture, Offshore Floating Photovoltaics, and Offshore Floating Wind Farms. As OSU is a new field with very few commercial projects, there are few established industry standards and common practices. Section 6 provides an overview of the existing rules and guidelines that can serve as a starting point for OSU projects. Conclusions of this survey are presented in Section 7.

#### 2. ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS

A very important aspect for Ocean Space Utilization is the characterization of the environmental conditions for design, operation, and extreme loading. In particular, reliable long-term statistics, taking into account relevant short-term effects, are required for wind, waves and currents in coastal and sheltered areas. Since the focus here is on very large structures, typically on the order of a kilometer or more in size, inhomogeneity in the environmental conditions is to be expected. The effects of a variable bathymetry, diffraction of waves from nearby coasts and islands, wave-current interaction, and wind blowing over variable topography will generally be important over the length of the structure. Thus, this section summarizes the state of the art for establishing the environmental design basis for very large floating structures in nearshore regions and highlights the differences to established methods used for ships and conventional offshore installations like oil and gas platforms. Also, areas are identified where knowledge and information are missing.

#### 2.1 Design conditions

Regarding the design perspective, environmental data is required for fatigue limit state and for ultimate limit state analyses (FLS and ULS). The data includes wind, waves and current, (ice effects are not discussed) and it should be provided with the correct statistical correlations. Regarding FLS, the design procedures use scatter tables with the annual probability of occurrence of the environmental conditions. The ULS analysis provides the expected extreme loads over a defined return period, which may be for example 100 years, or 50 years. In this case, the analysis requires the environmental extreme conditions leading to the extreme loads.

For the design of offshore structures, good quality wind and wave data is often available from hindcast models. This is the case for ocean areas developed by the oil and gas sector. For example, the Nora10 hindcast model operated by the Norwegian Meteorologic Institute covers the North and Norwegian Seas with more than 50 years of data and 10 km grid resolution (Reistad et al., 2011). However, many of the marine structures for more general OSU will be

installed in coastal areas where the offshore hindcast data is not applicable. Furthermore, the environmental description for coastal areas is very much site specific, more complex and in fact significantly more difficult to characterize with good accuracy.

The common practice to establish an environmental design basis for waves and wind in coastal areas consists of two steps. First, long-term offshore wind and wave conditions near the focus area is analyzed from a reliable source of data (e.g. Hersbach et al., 2020; Reistad et al., 2011). Second, a detailed bathymetry of the coastal area is implemented and combined with the offshore conditions to transfer the environmental data from offshore to nearshore region using a nearshore wave model such as SWAN (Booij et al., 1999). The quality of input (both offshore conditions and coastline/bathymetry) is very important and determines to a large extent the quality of the output. Another important factor is the definition of the appropriate computational domain, as well as the nesting scheme (if needed) to be applied as one approaches the target points.

Recently, in order to obtain the characteristics of wave evolution principles and the hydroelastic responses of the VLFS near islands and reefs, three categories of wave models including mega-scale, middle-scale and local-scale models were used, and some numerical simulation tools have been employed as well, including the viscous solvers ANSYS, Fluent, etc., and potential flow theory solvers including WAMIT, AQWA, etc. They are described below and summarized in Table 2.1 by (Yang et al., 2019b).

Category	Zone	Issues	Theory	Solvers
Mega scale	Hundreds to thousands of kilometers	Wind generated wave growth and propagation	Wave action density balance equation	WAM, SWAN, WW3
Middle scale	Several kilometers	Refraction, diffraction, and dispersion of waves in coastal regions	Wave action density balance equation, Green-Naghdi theory, Boussinesq equation, mild- slope equation	SWAN, WW3, FUNWAVE, MIKE21, etc.
Local scale	Hundreds of meters	Disturbance of waves with floating structures	Viscous models (N-S equations); potential solves (BEM)	ANSYS Fluent, WAMIT, AQWA.

Table 2.1: Categories of ocean	wave models near sl	hore or around	the floating struct	ures
	(Yang et al., 2019	9b).		

(1) Mega-scale models are based on the wave spectral action density balance equation, software packages such as SWAN and WW3 (Wave Watch III) can deal with wave growth and propagation in several hundreds of kilometers zone (Jiang et al., 2010) and the Gulf of Mexico (Fan et al., 2009).

(2) Middle-scale models are based on one of the following equations, i.e. mild-slope equation (Berkhoff, 1972), Boussinesq equation (Madsen et al., 1991) and Green-Naghdi equation

(Zhao, 2010), and can be employed to simulate the wave refraction, diffraction, and dispersion characteristics near shores or islands.

(3) Local-scale models including viscous models and potential flow solvers, which can describe the details of wave disturbances around the floating structures. In the local-scale models, the effects of seabed profile on the responses of the floating structures must be taken into consideration.

Wave-current coupling is important for the correct modelling of both waves and current as well as for determining wave-structure interaction and related loads. Relevant work has been developed in recent years concerning the coupling of wave and current models to improve predictions in both (see e.g. Chen et al. (2018) and references cited therein).

The present challenges to characterize the environmental conditions for coastal areas include:

- Correct modelling of the propagation of waves from deep water to coastal areas with complex bathymetry and irregular coastal shape. Existing wave propagation methods are based on a mild slope approach, while the coastal sea bottom may be quite uneven and shore diffraction effects may also be relevant. For example, the bathymetry on the Norwegian coast often includes shoals near the coast, before the water depth increases again in the fjords. The wave propagation models and simulations need to include the correct physics to represent the dissipation, refraction and diffraction effects associated with complex bathymetries and coastal shorelines.
- Existing hindcast wave data is based on phase-averaged wave propagation models, which solve the space and time evolution of the wave spectrum. For this reason, wave inhomogeneity, which may be important for some VLFSs, is restricted to the wave spectrum while wave phase information is lost. The inhomogeneity may be related to the referred dissipation, refraction, and diffraction effects. It is therefore important to implement time-domain propagation studies to characterize the inhomogeneity.
- Current is driven by wind, tide and river discharges and it may exhibit complex threedimensional patterns. Recent numerical models based on a fine discretization of the shoreline and the bathymetry make it possible to provide estimates of the current velocity for coastal design applications. The challenge on this topic consists of relating the simulation conditions and results with the required probability levels for fatigue analysis and extreme load analysis.
- Existing offshore wind information also needs to be transformed to the near-shore sitespecific location, since the surrounding topography strongly affects the mean wind velocity, direction and turbulence. The models will need to apply a finer grid resolution than those used for offshore hindcasting.

#### 2.2 Extreme waves

Long-term wave statistics are investigated by processing wave data, in the given area of interest, from different sources: e.g. buoys, satellites, or hindcast data (see, e.g., Goda, 2000). Different approaches can be considered for the extreme value analysis, including annual maxima, and Peaks Over Threshold (Castillo, 1988; Coles, 2001; Ferreira & Guedes Soares, 1998, 2000; Neelamani, 2009), or more recently, approaches based on Storm Models.

Storm Models provide useful tools for estimating the design wave for both offshore and coastal structures, based on a design storm (non-stationary event). The design wave is related to the design storm, which is characterized by two the parameters intensity (maximum significant wave height) and duration. The temporal evolution over the duration of the storm depends on the storm shape.

This class of models is employed to extrapolate actual significant wave height time series via a sequence of simplified storms with a given shape, e.g., triangular, both in time- and space-time domains (see next subsection for space-time domain references). The basic concept is to substitute the actual storm sequence at a given site by a sequence of simplified storms, keeping the

wave risk unchanged. This equivalence between actual storm and simplified one is achieved by keeping the same maximum expected wave height and the same probability that the maximum wave height exceeds a given threshold. The main difference between the storm models is related to the storm shape, which can be triangular (Arena and Pavone, 2009, 2006; Boccotti, 2015, 2000), a power law (Arena et al., 2014; Fedele & Arena, 2009), exponential (Laface and Arena, 2016), or trapezoidal (V. Laface et al., 2019). Using these models, it is possible to derive analytical solutions for the calculation of return periods of a storm with assigned characteristics, e.g., the return period of a storm whose maximum significant wave height exceeds a given threshold. The last-mentioned trapezoidal-shape storm model has been developed on the basis of the DNV storm temporal evolution given in DNVGL RP C-205 (DNVGL, 2017). This model provides a very simple approach for calculating return values of significant wave height based only on the probability distribution of the significant wave height at the site.

A contribution with a different approach related to Equivalent Storm Models was given by Mackay & Johanning (2018), who based their method on generalized extreme value (GEV) distributions.

Recently, Samayam et al. (2017) gave a general review of extreme wave height prediction models, with a comparison among four different models: (1) the GEV distribution model based on samples of the annual maxima, (2) the generalized Pareto distribution (GPD) model based on peaks over threshold (POT) samples, (3) the equivalent triangular storm (ETS) model, (4) the P-app method based on extrapolation of the tail of the provision function.

In general, one of the advantages of the storm models, for example with respect to the POT method, is that the return values have a low variability to changing the threshold. In addition, Storm Models provide a time evolution of the design storm instead of a single design sea state, giving an idea of the sequence of sea states characterizing the design event. This last aspect could be a key element for fatigue analysis (see DNVGL RP C-205).

## 2.2.1 Extreme waves in the space-time domain

The wave statistics in the space-time domain, for Gaussian seas, may be investigated with Adler's theory (Adler, 1981; Adler, 2000; Adler & Taylor, 2007; Piterbarg, 1995) on the Euler Characteristics of Excursion Sets and their related probability for a multidimensional domain. Adler's approach was investigated for ocean engineering applications by Krogstad et al., (2004), Forristal (2006), and Baxevani & Rychlik (2006). The probability of exceedance of the maximum crest height in a given area and during a particular sea state, was introduced by Fedele et al. (2011) and Fedele (2012).

A different approach was given by Romolo & Arena (2015), for the prediction of extreme ocean waves in the space-time domain. Effects of nonlinearities were taken into account by considering Forristall's model for nonlinear crests. Then, the long-term statistics in the space-time domain were investigated through considering the DNVGL trapezoidal storm models by Laface et al. (2020). The results show how the highest crests in the space-time domain can be significantly higher with respect to the values achieved with the analysis in the time domain. This suggests that models for the prediction of extreme ocean events on very large structures should take temporal and spatial variability into account.

## 2.3 Wind-wave-current-shoreline interaction in coastal regions

As noted above, spectral wave modelling of the environmental conditions in nearshore/coastal regions is challenging due to the difficulties of including significant effects from coastal and island diffraction, refraction from rapidly changing bathymetry, and highly variable local wind and current, along with surf zone dynamics. There is work in progress to better understand and model these processes. For example, Addona et al. (2020) performed experimental measurements of long waves with varying partial reflection from the tank boundary and an opposing (offshore) wind. They found a complicated interaction between the wind-generated short waves, the mechanically generated long waves, and the subsequent internally generated

currents. The results were fairly well captured by existing theories, but only when phase information was included. They highlight the need for further experimental work to improve and validate theoretical modelling.

A new model for capturing the shoreline dynamics of the swash zone in phase-averaged models was developed by Memmola et al. (2020), who showed promising results. In terms of the detailed behavior in the surf zone, Martins et al. (2020) demonstrated the importance of non-hydrostatic and nonlinear effects on the correct prediction of wave heights, and also showed that rotational (viscous) effects are negligible. Bertin et al. (2020) studied the generation of infra-gravity waves by wind-wave interaction with the beach during storm conditions. The generated long waves were found to reach a significant wave height of 1.85 m in a wind-wave spectrum of significant wave height up to 9.5 m. Numerical calculations indicate that the generation mechanism is mainly the release of bound harmonics.

J. Zhang et al. (2019) as well as J. Zhang & Benoit (2021) studied the generation of extreme waves in the coastal zone using high-fidelity, phase-resolving numerical models, and found that both second- and third-order effects are important. In the second study, they considered the experimental measurements of Trulsen et al. (2020) to shed light on how the statistical properties of irregular waves are modified by propagating over a shoal. Tayfun & Alkhalidi (2020) illustrated the limitations of second-order theory for describing irregular wave statistics in restricted water depths and proposed a simple modification with much better performance.

Dalsøren et al. (2020) proposed a new intuitive method for validating numerical fjord models by comparison with field measurements.

## 2.4 Further environmental aspects of OSU structures

For ships and conventional offshore structures, their effect on the surrounding wave field is commonly neglected. Large floating structures however can have a significant effect on the environmental conditions in their vicinity. Floating breakwaters are specifically designed to reduce the wave height on their leeward side (J. Dai et al., 2018; Peña, et al., 2011). Artificial islands or floating cities of several square kilometers in size will also cause significant wave scattering that alters the wave conditions in their vicinity as shown e.g. by Ertekin & Kim (1999) for a floating airport.

An additional aspect of environmental conditions specific to Offshore Floating Photovoltaics (OFPV) and some forms of aquaculture is the solar irradiation. Where dedicated irradiation measurement data exists for land areas, this information is scarce for nearshore and offshore locations. Local wind systems based on temperature differences between seawater and coastal land can lead to cloud forming either on land or at sea increasing or reducing solar irradiation at sea compared to nearby land. Examples for this effect are the Dutch coast as well as the coastal waters along the Namib and Atacama deserts.

As solar irradiation is the basis for biological primary production, the ecological effect of very large floating structures blocking sunlight entering the water needs to be investigated for large OSU projects. Karpouzoglou et al., (2020) investigated this effect for OFPV structures at the Dutch coast. On the other hand, OSU structures add large surface areas of hard substrate at their location, offering a habitat for marine organism.

## 3. GLOBAL LOADING, MOTIONS, AND STRUCTURAL RESPONSES

For the development of ocean space utilization, Very Large Floating Structures (VLFS) will play the dominating role. The global loading, motions, and structural responses of VLFS are critical issues investigated by both academic and industry. This section focuses on the summary of the important and latest research outcomes of these issues.

## 3.1 Characteristics of VLFS structures

Compared to an ordinary ship, VLFSs are unprecedentedly large and flexible floating structures with structural natural frequencies dropping down to the wave frequency region. In the assessment of wave responses and structural safety of a VLFS, the hydroelastic effects, see Figure 3.1, naturally are of great concern.



Figure 3.1: Lateral bending deformation of a VLFS model (left); vertical deformation of a very flexible floating sheet in waves (right)

VLFSs have their advantages in offshore engineering applications. For example, such compliant structures can be applied to a floating hydrocarbon storage facility, as shown in Figure 3.2. VLFS are floating multi-body systems, which have more degrees of freedom than conventional floating structures that are often treated as rigid bodies with 6 degrees of freedom (DOF) motions. As for VLFSs, simplified numerical models may neglect important effects. Therefore, a multi-body hydrodynamic analysis is essential for VLFSs.



Figure 3.2: Floating hydrocarbon storage facility

However, different from most marine and offshore structures, the development and application of VLFS deployed near the shore or an island will face some critical challenges. Wu et al. (2021) as well as J. Ding et al. (2021b) made a summary on the verification of key technologies for floating structures near islands and reefs and identified the following three challenges.

- Assessment of hydroelastic effects of VLFS with complex shape and multi-module connections.
- Description of complex environmental conditions and coupling with hydroelastic analysis of floating bodies.
- The object of experimental simulation involves not only the coupled response between modular floating bodies, connecting device and complex mooring system, but also the

multi-scale propagation of waves and current in complex seabed topology and geographic environment.

#### 3.2 Hydroelastic modelling approaches

In this section, traditional hydroelastic modelling approaches are summarized. Then, three new challenges due to complex sea environments, i.e., inhomogeneous incident waves, shallow water effect, and seabed topography, and the latest modelling approaches are introduced. Finally, the numerical tools for hydroelastic analysis are described.

#### 3.2.1 Classical hydroelasticity modelling

In the early 1980s, three-dimensional hydroelasticity theory was established and developed by Wu (1984) through unifying the three dimensional potential flow theory and Finite Element Method (Bishop et al., 1986b; Price & Wu, 1985). Several important research projects have been conducted in USA, Japan, and China, aiming to achieve in-depth understanding of hydroelastic modelling theories. The motions, wave loads, and structural responses of VLFS were investigated based on these theories in the VLFS project supported by National Science Foundation of America (Du & Ertekin, 1991; Ertekin, et al., 1993; D. Wang, et al., 1991; Wu et al, 1993). The Mega-float project in Japan included two phases and landing and take-off experiments with small aircrafts were carried out on a VLFS model with 1000 m in length (Suzuki, 2005). A project was carried out at Shanghai Jiao Tong University sponsored by National Science Foundation of China (Cui et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2001). In this project, based on the second-order hydroelasticity theory developed by Wu et al. (1997), the nonlinear hydroelastic response method of large floating structures was investigated by X.-J. Chen et al. (2004). Besides, the project 'Response and Structure Safety of VLFS in Complex Environment' was conducted by CSSRC from 2013 to 2017, mainly in view of major scientific problems such as hydroelasticity, complex geographic environment, flexible connectors, complex mooring system, structural reliability and safety (J. Ding et al., 2021b).

The interest in VLFS prompted the International Ship and Offshore Structures Congress (ISSC) to establish a specialist committee on VLFS (Suzuki et al., 2006), whose task was to consider the state-of-the-art in VLFS analysis and design procedures including the application of hydroelasticity. Comparative studies of the hydroelastic analysis results from different computing codes for a pontoon (mat-like) VLFS were carried out, covering a mix of both fluid models (potential and linear Green–Naghdi) and structural models (3-D grillage, 2-D plate, 3-D shell), see (Riggs et al., 2008). The similarities in the results increased the confidence level of the state-of-the-art in predicting the hydroelastic responses of such structures. Another similar comparative study of pontoon type VLFS with shallow draft was also conducted by Jiao et al. (2006).

For a large array of floaters, the wave-structure interactions can be calculated with analytical or semi-analytical solutions (Kagemoto and Yue, 1986; Newman, 2001). When the large array of floaters is the substructure of VLFS, numerical methods with proper approximations can further accelerate the computations (Murai et al., 1999). These methods were applied to floating structures with simple geometries. Mirafzali et al. (2015) employed the fundamental solution method, which is a meshless numerical method to solve hydroelastic analysis of fully nonlinear water waves with a floating elastic plate. Cheng et al. (2016b) investigated the hydroelastic responses of a mat-like, rectangular VLFS edged with dual horizontal/inclined perforated plates using Eigen function expansion-matching method, FEM-BEM hybrid method and experimental test. Y. Sun et al. (2018) divided a continuous (single-module) flexible structure into several rigid sub-modules with a virtual beam added between the center of each sub-module and simplified the coupled fluid-structure interaction problem as equivalent multi-body hydrodynamic problem with elastic constraints.

Furthermore, the hydroelastic analysis of VLFS is very relevant to problems concerning the interaction of water waves with ice sheets, and many research results can be found in the polar

science and engineering field. Recent examples are (Ilyas et al., 2018; Kalyanaraman et al., 2020; Papathanasiou & Belibassakis, 2019; Papathanasiou et al., 2019; Sergienko, 2017).

## 3.2.2 Inhomogeneous incident waves

Over the past few decades, there are many investigations of hydroelastic response of VFLS in deep and open sea encountering one-directional incoming waves of a specified wave spectrum. However, since VLFS are huge structures in the order of several kilometers, the sea environment is no longer homogeneous over the structure. One of the challenges due to complex environment is the inhomogeneous incident waves at different locations of the VLFS, and how to describe these inhomogeneous waves. More recently, this problem was specifically addressed in the following studies.

Ding et al. (2016, 2019) and Wu et al. (2016) analyzed the effect of inhomogeneous wave distribution on the VLFS by dividing the sea area into several blocks and considering different wave conditions on each sub-module of the VLFS. It was found that the motions and connector loads of the VLFS increased by 40%-80% compared to results calculated by traditional method with homogeneous incident wave. An indirect method has been proposed to study the unsteady external loads and hydroelasticity of VLFSs under inhomogeneous sea conditions (Wei et al., 2018).

The inhomogeneous incident wave analysis method also applies in some other fields involving long floating structures, such as floating bridge. Wei et al. (2017) and Fu et al. (2017) applied different wave excitation forces onto different modules to analyze the effect of inhomogeneous wave distribution on the hydroelastic response of floating plates and a floating bridge respectively. Z. Cheng et al. (2018, 2019, 2021) and Dai et al. (2020) also used this method in the analysis of dynamic responses for very long floating bridges in a Norwegian fjord under inhomogeneous incident wave conditions. Z. Cheng et al. (2020) also made an in-depth investigation on the extreme responses of the long floating bridge.

## 3.2.3 Shallow water effects

When the draft of a floating body is not small compared to the water depth in coastal regions or near islands, effects of the sea bottom on wave-body interactions may become more important than those in deep water conditions (Oortmerssen, 1976). A general step to consider the bottom effect is to make the constant-depth assumption. Hydrodynamic theories concerning wave-body interactions over flat bottom have been developed from two-dimensional (2D) approaches to three-dimensional (3D). From the numerical point of view, these approaches of the boundary value problem can be generally divided into analytical methods and numerical methods.

The analytical methods, for instance eigen-function matching method, generally require the floating bodies to be assumed to be of rectangular or circular/spherical shape in 2D problems, see e.g. Zheng et al. (2004a, 2004b), Yang et al. (2017), and this requirement is also included in 3D problems by Wu et al. (2004) and Hulme (1982), respectively. In contrast, numerical methods generally deal with floating bodies of arbitrary geometry. Among them, Boundary Element Method (BEM) is used widely because all its unknowns are distributed on the specified boundaries, realizing a reduced computational burden. A typical BEM involves a complicated finite-depth Green's function, which automatically satisfies the free surface condition, the bottom condition and the far-field radiation condition. It shall be noted that the most time-consuming part of this method is the evaluation of the troublesome finite-depth Green's function and its partial derivatives. Computational strategies related to this function have been well established by many scholars using various numerical techniques, such as polynomials to approximate slow-varying components (Newman, 1985), and different asymptotic or power series expansions in different regions (Linton, 1999; Liu et al., 2015). Detailed classification of these strategies has been given by Liu et al. (2020).

Rankine source approach is another representative BEM method, which requires to calculate the integral of simple Green's function and its partial derivatives over all fluid boundaries. The

far field radiation condition must be treated carefully in this approach since the infinite fluid domain does need a truncation in numerical practices. In order to avoid unexpected wave reflection from the truncated boundaries, scholars have brought up several numerical techniques, among which methods involving the numerical beach (Moshe et al., 1981) and absorbing layer (Filippas and Belibassakis, 2014) are widely applied. These methods commonly create a circular area to encompass the truncated free surface and artificial damping is added into the free surface conditions to eliminate negative effects of the truncation. Zhang & Beck (2007, 2008) used the division of the free surface into inner domain and outer domain. Based on this, Feng (2014) developed a new source point distribution strategy with increasing spaces between points to replace the even spacing method for free surface treatment.

#### 3.2.4 Seabed topography effect

The seabed topography and local bathymetry does not only affect wave propagation. The hydroelastic response of the structure also depends on the local water depth. This is another challenge for the application of VLFS near islands where seabed topography effect must be taken into consideration. When a VLFS is deployed in coastal region, near islands, or in otherwise complicated geographical environment, the environment conditions, wave loads and the hydroelastic responses of the structure will be quite different from those in open and deep sea. The seabed topography in nearshore areas is usually in a rugged state and water depth may change from several hundred meters to several meters in a short distance, which has brought up great challenges to the analysis of wave-body interaction. The effects of coastlines (Xia et al., 1999), seawalls (Ertekin & Kim, 1999) and varying sea bottom topographies (Utsunomiya et al., 2001b) on the hydroelastic responses of nearshore structures have been recognized as important issues in recent decades. Sturova (2008) investigated the effect of bottom topography on the unsteady behavior of an elastic plate floating on shallow water. The results showed that the form of the bottom irregularities can have a considerable effect on the oscillations of an elastic plate floating on shallow water.

#### Semi-analytical and simple methods

To study 3D wave-body-seabed interaction problems, several numerical methods were proposed. Murai et al. (2003) separated the pontoon-type VLFS into many small floating bodies and the local water depth for each body is assumed to be constant, thus forming a succession of fluid domains of constant water depth. Then Eigenfunction Matching Method (EMM) was applied in each domain and the velocity potential was represented by a series of eigenfunctions associated with the local depth. It is assumed that in the method of Murai et al. (2003) the water depth of external region is required to be constant. Sun et al. (2003) investigated the hydroelastic behavior of an elastic plate floating on the sea surface with 2D and 3D uneven seabed topography. The influence of uneven sea bottom on vertical displacements of a VLFS model was studied by Song et al. (2005) using finite water depth Green's function. Utsunomiya et al. (2001a) used a Fast Multipole Method to study VLFS response in variable water depth and topography.

Cheng et al. (2017) employed a 2D fully nonlinear numerical wave tank to investigate the interaction between a monochromatic wave and a floating elastic plate over a variable seabed in time domain. The frequency-domain hydroelastic responses of a 2D floating structure in variable bathymetry was investigated by Liu et al. (2019) based on Eigenfunction Matching Method in conjunction with Discrete Modules Method (DMM). Yang et al. (2019b) concluded that the wave statistics experienced obvious changes when propagating and approaching towards an island; meanwhile, the complicated seabed profile has an apparent influence on the hydroelastic responses of the VLFS including the vertical deflection responses and connector loading.

#### Fixed boundary condition on seabed

It is found that VLFS show obvious coupling responses with the depth-varying seabed (Yang et al., 2019b), when VLFS are located at the mouth of a river (Utsunomiya et al., 2008), and

when VLFS with one module and 8-module are located near islands (Ding et al., 2017, 2019). This shows that hydroelastic responses are greatly influenced by the depth-varying seabed. Besides, Liu & Sakai (1997) developed a time-domain method for the hydroelastic response of VLFS in arbitrary bathymetry. After that, Liu extended their method to nonlinear wave cases to account for solitary Tsunami waves (Liu et al., 2002). In their works, the velocity potential satisfies the impermeability condition along the bottom boundary.

In the models employed by Buchner (2006) as well as Ferreira & Newman (2009), a second fixed body was introduced to represent the sloping bottom. It was suggested that refraction and interference effects were too strong and affected wave exciting forces on the floating bodies in an incorrect way by the truncated edge of the second body by Buchner (2006). To eliminate these unphysical effects, De Hauteclocque et al. (2009) proposed a modified formulation of the boundary element method by introducing partially transparent panels representing the uneven seabed to improve this situation and investigated the hydrodynamic properties of a LNG carrier over sloping bottoms. Distribution of the transparency coefficient over the bottom panels and size of the partially transparent region are determined empirically. Note that the second fixed body approach requires the far field wave pattern to be characterized by finite-depth Green's function, rendering itself an incomplete formulation for the diffraction and radiation problems.

To study the effect of various seabed topographies on the hydroelastic responses of VLFS, Kyoung et al. (2005) presented a finite-element method based on the variational formulation used in the fluid domain and the seabed was treated as fixed boundary condition. In order to deal with the tremendous number of panels in treating the uneven seabed as a fixed boundary condition, a fast paralleling algorithm was proposed by Tian et al. (2014) in the load determination, structural design and safety assessment of floating platforms near islands and reefs. Using this method, a single-module barge (Lu et al., 2018), single-module semisubmersible platform (Yang et al., 2015), three-module semisubmersible platform (Yang et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2019b) have been calculated and compared with model test data.

Based on linear Rankine source method, Kim & Kim (2013) developed another complete formulation to treat this problem. The incident wave was generated numerically by deploying a wave-making wall on the inlet boundary. This scheme was added directly to the Rankine source method, and the incident and disturbed potential can be solved both simultaneously and separately. Numerical damping was added in the free surface boundary conditions in the damping zones, giving rise to artificially induced errors. Two parameters, the damping intensity and size of the damping zone were determined case by case. Consequently, the accuracy of numerical results considering the sloping bottom will be affected. Yang et al. (2019a) proposed a threestep time-domain hydroelasticity method for VLFSs over the sloping bottom under inhomogeneous waves based on the Boussinesq equation and Cummins' theory. For the diffraction and radiation problems, finite-depth Green's function was employed, and no penetrating conditions were applied to the complicated bottom.

#### Eigenfunction Expansion Method (EEM)

Seto et al. (2005) developed a versatile modal approach for fluid–structure interactions, which incorporated the use of NASTRAN and a newly formulated, hybrid, finite/infinite element method of the domain decomposition type. The velocity potentials for the inner and outer sub-domains were expressed by the corresponding vertical orthogonal eigenfunction expansions. Such an approach can be used for water waves in a protected sea with irregular boundaries. Belibassakis & Athanassoulis (2005) developed a coupled-mode method and applied this to hydroelastic analysis of large floating platforms of shallow draft over variable bathymetry regions, characterized by parallel bottom contours. Pham et al. (2008) extended the eigenfunction expansion matching method to develop a horizontal submerged annular plate attached around the perimeter of a pontoon-type circular VLFS. Based on Eigenfunction Expansion Method, Sturova (2008) investigated the behavior of a floating plate for different actions and shapes of

bottom irregularities. It was shown that the bottom topography can have a considerable effect on the deformation of the plate.

#### Bottom-dependent Green's function

A representative complete formulation for 3D problems concerning the sloping bottom is a boundary element method proposed by Belibassakis (2008) based on 3D bottom-dependent Green's function by Belibassakis & Athanassoulis (2004) and a consistent coupled-mode theory of water propagation by Athanassoulis & Belibassakis (1999) to treat the diffraction/radiation and incident wave problem, respectively. It should be noted that numerical evaluation of the 3D bottom-dependent Green's function is a quite cumbersome task, especially when considering floating bodies of complex geometries, as large numbers of sources are required. Gerostathis et al. (2016) extended the coupled-mode model developed by Belibassakis & Athanassoulis (2005) and Belibassakis (2008) to include hydroelasticity of structures with shallow drafts floating over regions with variable bathymetry. Considering constant and variable seabed bathymetry, Karperaki et al. (2016) analyzed the transient hydroelastic response of floating elastic plates connected with multiple elastic connectors.

#### Inner-and outer region matching method

To obtain a rational description of the influence of uneven seabed and sheltering effect of islands on the hydroelastic responses of a VLFS deployed near an island and reefs in shallow water, Ding et al. (2017) and (Wu et al., 2017a) established a rational direct coupled analysis method (DCAM) to analyze the hydroelastic response of floating bodies near islands and reefs. In this method, the fluid domain is divided into the outer region and the inner region where Boussinesq equations and Rankine source method, respectively, are utilized to solve the seabedwave-body problems.

#### 3.2.5 Numerical methods and tools for hydroelasticity analysis

There are several numerical methods and tools used in hydroelasticity analysis and simulations of VLFS. As for the execution of traditional hydroelasticity theory, examples of the most important tools are program THAFTS-IHIW (Ding et al., 2019) and THAFTS-BR (Ding et al., 2017). Both tools have been playing an important role in the VLFS engineering application, and they are able to estimate the hydroelastic responses of VLFS in inhomogeneous waves. Liu & Sakai (2002) investigated the interaction of regular waves, random waves and solitary waves with a pontoon-type VLFS by satisfying the second order continuity of the pressure and displacement on the fluid-structure interface, respectively. Kyoung et al. (2006) employed FEM to simulate the hydroelastic deformation of VLFS with fully nonlinear free-surface conditions. Nguyen et al. (2018, 2019) performed a hydroelastic analysis of VLFS with vertical mooring lines modelled as vertical elastic springs in frequency domain using the hybrid finite element–boundary element (FE-BE) method. They examined the effectiveness of vertical elastic mooring lines in reducing hydroelastic responses for various wavelengths, incident wave angles, and aspect ratios.

Besides, Computational Fluid Dynamics technology has also been employed in hydroelastic simulations. Mollazadeh et al. (2011) and Mirafzali et al. (2015) adopted a meshless numerical method to calculate hydroelastic responses of fully nonlinear water waves with both semi-infinite and finite horizontal floating plates. Li et al. (2017) studied the interaction of water waves with a hinged multi-module floating structure, using a numerical model based on smoothed particle hydrodynamics (SPH) method. The simulation was performed in a 2D nonlinear numerical wave tank and the motion of the multi-module floating structure, hydrodynamic forces, mooring force, and collision forces on neighboring modules were calculated.

#### 3.3 Multi-body hydrodynamics

VLFSs are typical multi-body structures, so multi-body dynamics is also of crucial importance for the dynamic analysis of VLFS. For a floating multi-body system with a limited number of

bodies, many studies focused on the hydrodynamic interactions and mechanical couplings. For example, Kim (1972) and Ohkusu (1976) revealed the importance of hydrodynamic interactions between two ships. Following their studies, Kodan (1984) and Fang & Kim (1986) explored the motions of adjacent floating structures in oblique waves. Koo & Kim (2005) compared cases with and without consideration of the hydrodynamic interactions of two side-by-side floating platforms. It was found that neglecting hydrodynamic interactions may lead to a significant discrepancy in the motions of both platforms. Meanwhile, to consider the mechanical couplings, Langley (1984) presented a general dynamic analysis method for floating multibody systems. Sun et al. (2011) introduced the Lagrange multiplier to solve the dynamic responses of float-over installations. Based on a fully nonlinear potential flow theory, Feng & Bai (2017) developed a numerical model of two floating barges with and without connections. The contribution of nonlinearities was found significant under a steeper wave condition.

The multi-body interaction effect has already raised many related investigations in the offshore oil & gas engineering field. As for the well-known side-by-side floating liquefied natural gas (FLNG) and LNG carrier (LNGC) system connected through hawsers and fenders, Pessoa et al. (2015) developed a linearized coupled model in frequency domain, which showed fairly good accuracy compared to experimental results. Recent research done by D. Zhao et al. (2018) presented a time-domain analysis to investigate the hydrodynamic interactions between FLNG and LNGC. In their comprehensive work, the coupling between sloshing and vessel motions and the effect of the connection system consisting of fenders and hawsers were presented. The above research works were mostly based on linear potential flow theory; however, nonlinear effects may contribute to the dynamic responses of the floating multi-body system. Pessoa et al. (2016) revealed that the second-order wave excitations are important for the side-by-side floating system. Compared to the research focusing on side-by-side floating systems, the hydrodynamic interaction and mechanical coupling in a floating system with more than two bodies were less investigated. Lu et al. (2010) investigated a three-body system with two gaps in a two-dimensional numerical wave tank. Ning et al. (2018) reported the difference between a mono box and an equivalent tandem floating box system with narrow gaps in two-dimensional cases.

Recent research work was presented by Otto et al. (2020) and Waals et al. (2018) on a floating mega island consisting of interconnected triangular pontoons. They simulated mechanically and hydrodynamically coupled rigid body motions of all pontoons in waves and compared their results to model tests. Other floating multi-body systems are frequently seen as floating wave energy converters (WECs). As for the large number of arrayed WECs, an optimal arrangement for maximizing the power generation of the whole array considering hydrodynamic interaction among the multi-WECs was examined by Murai et al. (2020).

#### 3.3.1 Resonant motions in the gaps

In addition to the research on hydrodynamic and mechanical interactions of floating bodies, attention has also been paid to fluid resonance in narrow gaps. Fluid resonant motions may occur when the incident wave frequency is close to natural frequencies of fluid resonant modes in narrow gaps. This phenomenon was identified clearly in experimental studies (Fredriksen et al., 2015; Molin et al., 2009; Perić and Swan, 2015; Zhao et al., 2018). An analytical solution on the mode shape and corresponding natural frequencies in both narrow gaps and moonpools under infinite and finite water depth were derived by Molin (2001) and Molin et al. (2018), respectively. The existence of gap resonances may influence hydrodynamic forces on the two floating bodies as illustrated in Lu et al. (2011) and Jiang et al. (2019). Kristiansen & Faltinsen (2010) investigated the strong hydrodynamic coupling between the resonant piston mode in a narrow gap and the motions of a ship in shallow water. The potential flow method tends to unphysically overestimate fluid resonances since the viscous effects are neglected. Computational Fluid Dynamic (CFD) method may be directly utilized to predict gap resonant motions (Y. Yang et al., 2018) or combined with potential flow models (Chua et al., 2018; Chua et al., 2017; Kristiansen & Faltinsen, 2012).

However, very few studies have been conducted on applying CFD to a large floating multibody system due to the high computational cost. Instead, potential flow theory is still favored for hydrodynamic analysis of multi-body systems. To overcome the problem in the framework of potential flow theory, a rigid gap lid was introduced to reduce the free surface oscillation (Buchner et al., 2001). A flexible gap lid with generalized mode was developed by Newman (2003). Meanwhile, Chen (2005) introduced a free surface dissipation term on the free surface boundary condition. Recently, a new method was implemented by Lee & Zhu (2018) to model viscous effects in resonant free surface motions through a dipole lid.

## 3.4 Connector loads and responses

VLFSs are always assembled or constructed by joining base units either with flexible or rigid connectors, which are the most critical devices in the entire structures. However, the connectors are also the weakest link members of the whole system. Under severe sea states, the connectors will inevitably bear large loads and if the load exceeds the designed ultimate load, first the connection and possibly the overall structure will fail. To ensure safety and structural integrity, many investigations have been conducted on the design and safety assessment of connectors.

## 3.4.1 Equivalent mechanical connector models for VLFS

In dynamic response analysis and connector load calculation, the equivalent calculation model of floating module and connector mainly includes three forms: rigid module flexible connector (RMFC), flexible module rigid connector (FMRC) and flexible module flexible connector (FMFC).

RMFC model is a common model, in which the floating module is considered rigid, while the connector is flexible. Based on 3D hydroelasticity theory, Wang et al. (1991) established a simplified analysis program to calculate the motion response and connector load of a five-module floating body system using RMFC model. Riggs et al. (1999) studied a 1500 m  $\times$  152 m Mobile Offshore Base (MOB), which was solved by RMFC and FEA models, respectively. The results show that when the natural frequency of the RMFC model is similar to that of FEA model, RMFC model can reflect the response of floating body well.

FMRC model assumes that the flexibility of the floating module itself is much greater than that of the connector, and all the deformation occurs in the floating module. When studying the MOB proposed by McDermott, Kim (1999) discovered that the stiffness of the floating module in the system was smaller than that of the connector. By comparing the FMRC model and RMFC model, Kim found that the connector load in RMFC model was smaller than in the FMRC model.

In the FMFC model, both the floating module and the connector are assumed to be flexible. Wu et al. (1993) used FMFC model to study a five-module system. The deformation of each module and connector was taken into consideration in the calculation. The calculation results showed that the longitudinal connector force was greater than the transverse and vertical forces. Ertekin et al. (1993) used RMFC and FMFC models to calculate a floating system with 16 modules. The results showed that the calculation efficiency of both methods was very high even for large floating systems.

Wu et al. (2021) deployed a scaled two-module semi-submersible VLFS with a connector monitoring system near an island and reefs, as shown in Figure 3.3. The numerical calculation results of the significant stresses in longitudinal and vertical direction were in good agreement with the monitoring results for most of the measuring points.



Figure 3.3: Top view of the Scientific Research & Demonstration Platform (SRDP) (Wu et al., 2021)

## 3.4.2 Dynamic response characteristics of connectors

Due to complicated loads induced by wind, waves and current, the connectors between the modules of very large floating structures are bearing large loads. Therefore, the dynamic response prediction of connectors plays an important role in connecting system design. The research on dynamic response of flexible connectors mainly focuses on the following two aspects:

## Effect of sea conditions on connector loads (Wu, 1996)

This study included the dangerous wave direction range of the maximum connector load, the influence of wave direction and sea state on the connector loads, the analysis of the load response characteristics of the connector under different sea state levels and wave spectra. The conditions of unconnected, flexibly connected, and rigidly connected modules was compared.

## Influence of connector stiffness on connector load

An early work done by Riggs et al. (1999) studied thirteen different connector stiffness cases, in which longitudinal and vertical stiffness varied and transverse stiffness was fixed at a large value. Xia et al. (1999) investigated the hydroelastic behavior of two-dimensional articulated plates connected by idealized connectors, which were treated as a series of flexural rotational springs and vertical linear springs. The effect of the stiffness of connectors on the hydroelastic response of floating modules were studied by Fu et al. (2007). Riyansyah et al. (2010) and Gao et al. (2011) investigated the effect of the location and rotational stiffness of the connector for reducing the hydroelastic response and resultant stresses of the VLFS. Additionally, Michailides et al. (2013) also found that the connectors' internal loads were affected directly by the connectors' rotational stiffness. Zhang et al. (2017) proposed three types of flexible connector configurations to represent anisotropic stiffness models. They investigated the effect of the different stiffness on the global stability of the multi-modular floating system with amplitude death mechanism (Zhang et al., 2015), where a preferred parameter domain for the stiffness and wave period was suggested. Zhao et al. (2019) proposed a general strategy for determining the stiffness configuration for flexible connectors according to specific requirements.

#### 3.5 Structural response

As summarized by Suzuki et al. (2006), VLFS response in waves is dominated by elastic deformation of the structure. This elastic deformation can be due to the deformation of the floating bodies, or relative motions in their connectors, or combinations of these. For conventional VLFS for floating infrastructure applications, the vertical motions were found to be in the order of the incident wave height and the depth of the floating structure.

Nishigochi et al. (2020) proposed a method to analyze a Large-scale Floating Transposition Station (LFTS). They identified the occurrence of stress concentrations in the structural members of the LFTS by systematically changing the external force conditions such as the coal loading condition and wave load assumed during the operation and performing LFTS oscillation analysis as well as stress deformation analysis.

In the past, linear Kirchhoff plate theory was regularly employed to model the structural response of monolithic VLFS in various combinations with hydrodynamic models mentioned earlier in this section to address the hydroelastic problem. Considering larger deformations than permissible in linear plate theory, Chen et al. (2003 & 2006) formulated the nonlinear hydroelastic problem using Föppl-Von Kármán plate theory. They found that including nonlinear membrane stresses had little effect on the deformations, however increased the structure stress by 30%.

## 3.5.1 Physical and structural nonlinearity

Stronger nonlinear effects can be expected for floating membrane type of structures as considered by Trapani et al. (Trapani & Millar, 2016, 2013; Trapani et al., 2013) as well as Schreier & Jacobi (2020b, 2020a) for Offshore Floating Photovoltaic applications. For such structures with a depth of merely millimeters to centimeters, (Verhelst et al., 2019, 2020b) used a nonlinear plate model to describe wrinkling and buckling response. Further nonlinear effects can be due to material nonlinearities mainly in polymer materials (Verhelst et al., 2020a). Xu & Wellens (2022) presented a 2D nonlinear hydroelastic model of a floating membrane structure with third order treatment of waves and structure deflections.

Structural nonlinearity is discussed considering the influence of mooring systems and coupling between modules of the floating structures. Shimada & Miyajima (2002) conducted field measurements of elastic deflection and the mooring system to validate their nonlinear mooring simulation program. Their results demonstrated that their calculation code was useful for the design of VLFS mooring system.

Apart from large overall deformations, strong local deformations can also introduce nonlinear structural response, e.g., in the case of local structural failure. In this case, the structure can be modelled as several rigid or elastic bodies coupled by elasto-plastic hinges. The elasto-plastic deformation of marine structure including VLFS has been studied by Iijima et al. (2011, 2015) as well as Kimura et al. (2010) and termed hydro-elastoplasticity. Iijima & Fujikubo (2012) developed a mathematical model to describe the post-ultimate strength of a VLFS, considering the effects of hydroelasticity. The whole VLFS is modeled by two beams on an elastic foundation connected via a nonlinear rotational spring assuming that VLFS collapses at midship under severe bending moment, as shown Figure 3.4. The VLFS can be modeled as several elastic beams with an elasto-plastic hinge embedded at the connections (Iijima & Fujikubo, 2018). Iijima & Fujikubo (2019) carried out a parametric dependency study of the collapse extent of a VLFS under extreme vertical bending moments and developed a simple formula to predict the extent of collapse.



Figure 3.4: Two beams on elastic foundation with an elasto-plastic hinge at the connection. (Iijima & Fujikubo, 2012)

## 3.5.2 Reduction of structural response

With an eye on the purpose of VLFS as floating infrastructure or floating cities, several studies have been undertaken to reduce the structural response by means of breakwaters, use of submerged plates or special mooring arrangements. The mooring arrangements are discussed in Section 4. Here, the focus is on plates and breakwaters in combination with VLFS. As shown in Figure 3.5, Cheng et al. (2016b) investigated the fluid-structure interaction of oblique irregular waves with a pontoon-type VLFS edged with dual horizontal/inclined perforated plates in the context of direct time domain modal expansion theory. They employed analytical, numerical and experimental techniques in their study (Cheng et al., 2016b, 2014). The results showed that the contribution of dual inclined perforated plates in reducing the deflections is significant when the gap between two plates is not too narrow.



Figure 3.5: Schematic diagram of a rectangular VFLS with dual inclined perforated plates and the coordinate system (Cheng et al., 2016b).

Mohapatra & Guedes Soares (2016) investigated the effect of a submerged horizontal membrane on a moored floating plate. Earlier, Mohapatra & Sahoo (2014) developed the theoretical background for wave diffraction of a flexible floating structure in the presence of a flexible submerged structure based on Green's function. Feng et al. (2020) investigated the hydroelastic response of a VLFS with an attached submerged porous and solid plate, respectively, using Darcy's law and eigenfunction expansion-matching method for multiple domains. They found that a porous plate was more effective at low frequencies while a solid plate had greater effect at high frequencies.

The use of a modular raft Wave Energy Converter (WEC) attachment at the fore edge of a rectangular VLFS for extracting wave energy while reducing hydroelastic responses of the VLFS under wave action was investigated by Nguyen et al. (2019).

Khabakhpasheva & Korobkin (2002) found that an auxiliary floating plate or vertical mooring lines connected to the main structure can be optimally designed to significantly reduce deflections of a floating plate. The same problem of a spring connected to the floating plate was studied by Zhao et al. (2007) using the Wiener–Hopf technique.

Van Kessel (2010) explored an alternative way and investigated aircushion supported VLFS using linear potential theory and adiabatic modelling of the aircushion. He found that aircushions significantly influenced the behavior of the floating structure and reduced the structural loads.

#### 3.6 Other technologies in design and analysis

#### 3.6.1 Basin experiment technology

Basin experimental technology has always been playing an important role in the investigation of nonlinear dynamic responses of naval architecture and offshore structures as well as ocean space utilization structures. When conducting basin experiment of very large floating structures, the scaling ratio selection is a challenging task, because it requires a compromise among the model scantlings and basin size limitation.

Latest contributions to basin experimental investigations for ocean space utilization are the experiments conducted at the Maritime Research Institute Netherlands (MARIN) within the project Space@Sea (Fig.3.7). The newly proposed concept of a modular floating island with low ecological impact was tested experimentally, and the results were presented in the plenary lecture at the OMAE2019 conference.



Figure 3.7: Modular floatign island basin experiments conducted at MARIN (The blue future:Horizon 2020 project Space@Sea, 2018)

New results and knowledge were reported by Haneda et al. (2016) from model experiments in the towing tank of the National Maritime Research Institute of Japan (NMRI) using a 1:200 scale model of an underwater platform to stabilize e.g. offshore floating wind turbines.

Another experiment was carried out at Dalian University of Technology to investigate the hydroelastic responses of a rectangular VLFS edged with dual horizontal/inclined perforated plates (Cheng et al., 2016a) (Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.8: The VLFS model used in the experiment of Cheng et al. (2016a).

A basin experiment for a semi-submersible VLFS with scale ratio 1:100 was conducted in the State Key Laboratory of Coastal and Offshore Engineering of Dalian University of Technology (Ding et al., 2017). Also, a model of a 3-module semi-submersible VLFS with 5 transverse lower hulls in each module was tested in the same basin (see Figure 3.9) by Wu et al. (2017b). Later, a model test with scale ratio 1:100 of an 8-module semi-submersible-type VLFS (see Figure 3.10) was tested in Deepwater Offshore Basin at Shanghai Jiao Tong University to verify the software THAFTS-IHIW, which was established to estimate the hydroelastic responses of VLFS in the inhomogeneous waves (Ding et al., 2019). Ding et al. (2017) also established a direct coupled method based on Boussinesq equations and Rankine source method to analyze the vertical bending moment of floating bodies near islands and reefs. The earlier experiment was carried out in the State Key Laboratory of Coastal and Offshore Engineering at Dalian University of Technology, as shown in Figure 3.11.



Figure 3.9: Model test of 3-module semisubmersible platform in the basin at Dalian University of Technology (Ding et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2017b)



Figure 3.10: Model test of 8-module VLFS model in the basin at Shanghai Jiao Tong University (Ding et al., 2019)



Figure 3.11: Model test of a semi-submersible VLFS in the head wave (Ding, 2015; Ding et al., 2017)

Comparisons between basin experimental results and the numerical analysis results are also conducted to validate the numerical tools. The numerical procedures were verified and validated by comparisons of the predictions and the model test results of a 3-module VLFS and an 8-module semi-submersible platform in shallow sea regions with seabed topography (Wu et al., 2017b). From the comparison of pitch and connector force, see Figure 3.12, it can be pointed out that in most wave frequencies the amplitudes of motions and connecting forces with uneven seabed are larger than those with even seabed. The inhomogeneous waves induced by uneven seabed bathymetry should therefore be considered in the prediction of motions, loads, and structural responses of the multi-module floating structures.



Figure 3.12: Influence of uneven seabed on heave motion and connector force

Schreier & Jacobi (2020b) conducted model tests with a thin flexible floating sheet in the towing tank of Delft University of Technology. They measured the structural deformation by Digital Image Correlation (DIC) and found that the flexible sheet followed the wave elevation of the longer waves in the experiment and showed significant hydroelastic interaction for shorter waves, see Figure 3.13.



Figure 3.13: Digital Image Correlation measurements of thin flexible floating sheet (Schreier and Jacobi, 2020a). Left: experimental setup with model 4.95 m x 1.05 m. Right: structural elevation normalized by incoming wave amplitude over aft 1/3 of the structure

## 3.6.2 On-site testing technology

On-site testing, also named full-scale experiment, has always been a challenging task for the transducer installation and reliable data collection in long-term on-site testing. This section summarizes several recent on-site testing cases and the key technologies applied on VLFS structures.

Wu et al. (2021) and J. Ding et al. (2021a) deployed a scaled two-module semi-submersible VLFS near an island and reefs, as shown in Figure 3.14. On the platform were six sub-systems measuring waves, structure response, connector force, mooring line force, anti-corrosion status, floating wave breaker efficiency, and WEC generated electricity. All the sub-system data were obtained automatically through an integrated monitoring surveillance system. R. Ding et al. (2021) made an application of network modelling method to this demonstration platform.



Figure 3.14: Diagrammatic sketch of the SRDP (Wu et al., 2021)

On-site tests were also conducted for floating protective barriers. Floating protective barriers provide essential protection to critical governmental, commercial, and private assets. The seaworthiness of the Triton® barrier design developed by HALO Maritime Defense Systems (US) was investigated through a combination of field deployment, physical testing, and numerical simulations. The full-scale Triton® barrier, deployed and inspected near Isles of Shoals, New Hampshire provided important information on its dynamic behavior and the overall structural integrity under monitored environmental conditions (Knysh et al., 2021).

W2POWER is an on-site testing project ("Pelagic Power as W2Power") and its platform is integrated with wave energy devices (McTiernan and Sharman, 2020).

Large fish cages can also be regarded as large floating offshore structures and some on-site testing and monitoring has been conducted. There are many fish cages on-site, such as Havfarm (a steel frame for 6 cages measuring 50 m  $\times$  50 m on the surface, with open nets at 60 m depth), Pisbarca (a hexagonal steel structure with 7 cages built by a Spanish company, with a total volume of 10,000 m<sup>3</sup>, (Scott, 2000)), Ocean Farm 1, Shenlan 1, Shenlan 2 (a closed containment tank using concrete material for offshore farming (Olsen, 2020)), and Guangzhou Institute of Energy Conversion's semi-submersible wave powered aquaculture cage with seawater desalination plant on board and solar panel roof (Chu et al., 2020).

For large flexible fish cage structures, net deformation is an interesting problem. Moe-Føre et al. (2016) studied the hydrodynamic loads acting on high solidity net cage models subjected to high uniform flow velocities and the corresponding deformation of the net cages. Model tests of net cylinders with various solidities were performed in a flume tank with a simulated current. The drag force acting on the net cage and flow velocities as well as turbulence characteristics inside and downstream of the net cage were investigated by Bi et al. (2020). They found that biomass, flow speed, net cage configuration, and net deformation have various effects on the drag force and fluid flow.

## 3.6.3 Cost-effective design

OSU structures are commonly very large floating structures and require investments in the range of billions of dollars for full-scale applications. These costs could be reduced by saving construction material. Many researchers have proposed some ways to reduce wave-induced loads and hydroelastic responses of the VLFS. This is expected to reduce cost of the structures. The conventional approach of enhancing integral rigidity of the VLFS is impractical as larger structural stiffness leads to high demand of construction material. Therefore, this method is not easily applied to an existing VLFS. Another common approach is to employ the breakwaters surrounding the VLFS to reduce the environmental loads, such as bottom-founded breakwaters (Ohmatsu, 2001), or floating breakwaters (Hong & Hong, 2007; Tay et al., 2009). It is expected that the inclusion of breakwater surrounding VLFS can lead to feasible cost-effective designs.

Besides, cost-effective design of ocean engineering facility could be achieved by sharing the cost. Wave and wind energy converters were combined in hybrid semi-submersible platforms with the objective of taking advantage of synergetic effects to reduce the levelized cost of energy and to increase the quality of the delivered power to the grid (Kamarlouei et al., 2020;

Pérez-Collazo et al., 2015; Sarmiento et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2020). Ikoma et al. (2020) applied an in-house program based on linear potential theory to calculate hydrodynamic performance of an Oscillating Water Column (OWC) and elastic motion behavior of a large floating structure equipped with multi-OWC devices shown in Figure 3.15. They also discussed damping effects on vertical displacement and bending moments.



Figure 3.15: Sketch of large floating structure equipped with multi-Oscillating Water Column (OWC) devices (Ikoma et al., 2020)

## 3.7 Challenges and future trends

The most critical challenge for the analysis of global motions and structural responses of VLFS is the hydroelastic multi-body characteristic, which leads to many nonlinear issues on environmental loads, global motions, and structural responses. This brings along considerable challenges for analysis methods and calculation programs. In addition, the demand for accurate predictions of dynamic responses of VLFS under complex environmental conditions such as inhomogeneous wave, complicated seabed topology and finite water depth, contributes more challenges to the research of VLFS. This section not only presented the application of traditional 3D hydroelasticity theory, analysis method, programs, and experiments, but also summarized the latest research results of hydroelastic analysis of VLFS under complex environmental conditions in recent years.

In developing engineering application of VLFS, four key challenges are summarized as below.

- Effective nonlinear time domain hydroelasticity theories need to be developed to achieve more accurate dynamic response analysis of VLFS under complex sea states.
- Model testing technology for VLFS structures is to be improved by overcoming the challenges of similarity laws and complex boundary conditions due to large scale ratios, in order to provide a reliable verification basis for the development of newly proposed theories.
- Simplified methods for preliminary design and analysis of VLFS are to be developed. This is particularly important for conceptual designs of VLFS in engineering practice.
- With the proposal of more flexible floating structures for Offshore Floating PV applications, efficient numerical tools need to be developed to consider nonlinear effects of large deformations and wrinkling.

#### 4. **POSITIONING & MOORING**

#### 4.1 Classification of station keeping systems

Most floating OSU structures are intended for operation at a predetermined position. Therefore, a station keeping system acting against drift forces due to wind, waves, and currents is an integral part of the structures' design to keep the structure at its required position. These station keeping systems may be grouped into three main types: (1) caisson or pile-type dolphins with rubber fender system, (2) mooring lines, and (3) dynamic positioning (DP). The selection among the three main types depends on the design requirements.

## 4.1.1 Dolphins

Dolphins are structures fixed to the seabed and extending above the free surface. This solution is used when there are strict requirements in terms of maximum horizontal motions of the floater and the water depth is small. Loads on dolphins, or piles, are driven by the environmental horizontal forces on the floating system. It is important to note that the station keeping system needs to sustain the relatively large first order wave loads. Second, the system should be designed with natural frequencies of the horizontal modes above the wave frequency range to avoid resonance.

The rubber fender-dolphin mooring system was adopted for the two floating oil storage bases at Kamigoto and Shirashima islands in Japan (Wang & Tay, 2011). This kind of mooring system has since been used for other facilities such as floating piers, floating terminals, floating exhibition halls, floating emergency bases, and floating bridges. As the large size rubber fenders can undergo large deformations (of up to approximately one-third of their lengths), a considerable amount of the kinetic energy of the floating structure can be absorbed.

The mega-float is an example of a floating structure aimed for ocean space utilization, which has been constructed by Japan as a pontoon type VLFS test model for floating airport terminals and airstrips in the Tokyo Bay. The mega-float had an assumed deck area of 5 km<sup>2</sup> and was moored by more than 30 dolphins (Suzuki, 2005). In this case, for progressive failures of the mooring system, the collapse behavior of a single dolphin was investigated by a push-over analysis, i.e., a static method to investigate how far into the inelastic range a structure can go before it is on the verge of a total or a partial collapse. The effects of an earthquake on the floating structure moored by the dolphin system were also investigated. The horizontal motion of the sea bottom due to an earthquake is transmitted through the mooring dolphins and rubber fenders to the floating structure. Results showed that the floating structure is practically isolated from the effects of an earthquake and the impact of the earthquake was generally limited to the mooring system.

## 4.1.2 Mooring lines

Systems based on catenary lines are the most common solution for station keeping. These are also called soft mooring systems because the horizontal motion natural frequencies are significantly lower than the range of wave frequencies. For this reason, the mooring system is compliant with the first order wave loads. On the other hand, the floating structure experiences a mean horizontal offset due to the mean environmental loads and it also responds dynamically to the low frequency wave drift loads and wind loads.

The mooring lines are typically composed of several segments of the same material or combinations of different materials. Materials of line segments include chains, steel wire ropes, and synthetic ropes. These mooring systems can be used for a wide diversity of floating structures operating in all water depths, from shallow up to a few thousands of meters. See Ma et al. (2019) for a contemporary overview of offshore mooring systems.

The tension leg platform (TLP) concept may be considered a special class within the "mooring line type" and it consists of vertical tethers or tendons under tension that are fixed to the seabed. Stability is mostly provided by the mooring system, which is designed to achieve natural frequencies of the vertical motions above the wave frequency regime. On the other hand, the system is susceptible to vibrations due to sum frequency wave excitation. The horizontal motions are excited by the low frequency wave drift and wind loads since the related natural frequencies are low. The TLP solution may be considered when the vertical floater motions need to be minimized. In practice it has been implemented in a small percentage of the existing offshore oil and gas platforms. The same concept has been proposed for floating wind turbines with different geometries in depths varying from 50 to 320 m (Shin et al., 2014; Shin et al., 2013).

Downloaded from http://onepetro.org/snameissc/proceedings-pdf/ISSC22V2/1-ISSC22V2/D011S001R007/3099100/sname-issc-2022-committee-v-6.pdf/1 by guest on 17 April 2023

While the reports of ISSC Loads Committee provide a general overview of the advances related to calculation of mooring line loads, the following paragraphs focus on studies and methods applied to OSU.

Wang et al. (2018) presented a detailed analysis of a nonlinear two-dimensional moored floating structure using the extended Hamilton principle. They studied the influence of the sag-tospan ratio and inclination angle of the mooring cables on the response of the floating structure.

Weller et al. (2018) demonstrated that the mooring and foundation module of open source DTOcean (Optimal Design tools for ocean energy arrays) is able to provide wave energy device and/or site developers with rapid mooring and foundation design solutions to meet appropriate design criteria. S.-H. Yang et al. (2018) performed an experimental and numerical investigation of a taut-moored wave energy converter system with a point-absorber type converter. A numerical model at scale ratio of 1:20 was developed to simulate coupled hydrodynamic and structural response of the wave energy converter system, primarily using potential flow theory and Morison equation. The study showed that the simulation model could satisfactorily predict the dynamic motion responses of the wave energy converter system at non-resonant conditions, while at resonant conditions, additional calibration was needed to capture the damping present in the experiment.

Ganesan & Sen (2015) computed nonlinear load-excursion curves using catenary theory to determine linear and nonlinear line stiffness and obtain the horizontal tension for each individual mooring line. Eto et al. (2020) made an attempt to use an elastic mooring line as a mooring system for a Large-Scale Floating Coal Transshipment Station (LFTS) as shown in Figure 4.1. Even if the mooring lines attached to the LFTS moved up and down, an appropriate tension acted on the elastic mooring lines, such that the lines were expected to suppress the oscillation of the floating body and prevent the mooring lines from breaking due to excessive tension. It was understood that the elastic mooring system can be applied as a mooring system for large structures.



Figure 4.1: Image of LFTS system (a) and elastic mooring system (b) (Eto et al., 2020)

Xu et al. (2019) presented a detailed review of floating Wave Energy Converter (WEC) projects in the world, including the wave energy capturing technology, development history, main dimensions, mooring system design, and tested sea sites. The study showed that an elastic synthetic rope had great potential in the application of WEC mooring systems, and that the hybrid mooring system, including clump weights and buoys, could be a good solution for WEC station keeping.

Trubat et al. (2020) studied the influence of wave hydrodynamic loads on the lines of a catenary mooring system of floating wind turbines. Simulations for the DeepCWind and the OC3 Hywind platform using FLoaWDyn aero-servo-hydro-elastic model in different sea states showed an increase of the tension standard deviation between 2 and 4 %, with a consequent increase of the fatigue damage.

## 4.1.3 Dynamic positioning

Dynamic Positioning (DP) systems are applied in connection to operations, which require precise positioning and minimal horizontal motions. Frequent changes of the operation site, like in mineral exploitation, may also require DP capabilities. The aim of the DP system is to counteract the environmental mean horizontal loads and reduce the low frequency horizontal motions. More rarely, the system may aim at controlling roll/pitch motions. Wave frequency motions are not controlled. In some cases, the positioning system combines mooring lines with assistance from DP. One should note that, until the present date, DP has rarely been considered for positioning of OSU structures of the type discussed in the present report.

As an example of a new ocean space utilization concept, the Mobile Offshore Base (MOB) is a multi-module platform proposed by the US Navy, which was designed to be able to accommodate conventional take-off and landing of long-range cargo aircraft (Palo, 2005). This multiunit structure comprised several self-propelled, semi-submersible modules. These modules were lined-up and the alignment was maintained by means of DP thrusters or DP connectors or a combination of both (Lamas-Pardo et al., 2015). A Multi-Module Control Dynamic Positioning System (MMCDPS) was developed to keep each module properly oriented. In turn, the thrusters would serve to propel the module in transit. Tests and simulations with physical models, along with virtual tank tests, had shown good performance with this system.

## 4.1.4 Novel mooring technologies and arrangements

Practical solutions have been introduced for different mooring arrangements promising to reduce operational loads, initial and operational costs, and environmental impact, namely:

- Load reduction devices that are attached on the mooring line and rotate in response to the movement of a floating unit and mooring line loads. These devices mainly use a buoyancy/weight element, which rotates under loading to reduce line tension (Doyle et al., 2021).
- Integrated tension monitoring systems where a mooring line connector directly measures actual line tension with secondary readings on angle and rotation. These devices will provide a better understanding in integrity management.
- High strength ropes manufactured from ultra-high molecular weight polyethylene fibers with superior mechanical properties at breaking point, making them ideal for shock absorption and dynamic load applications (Bastos and Silva, 2020).
- Shared station keeping, where multiple units can be moored in position in a network of mooring lines. In this arrangement a shared anchor is a point in the mooring system connected to multiple mooring lines that reduce the overall number of needed anchors (Dimkin, 2019).

## 4.2 Special problems of mooring analysis for OSU

There are some challenges related to the mooring system design for ocean space utilization, which are related to establishing the design loads and responses for non-conventional and complex structures. These include:

- Representing the hydroelastic response of flexible structures, e.g. VLFS (Nguyen et al., 2018b; Ni et al., 2018), fish cages (Shen et al., 2018), floating bridges and submerged tunnels (Dai et al., 2021; Jin & Kim, 2020), floating solar islands (Kristiansen & Borvik, 2018).
- Considering complex coupling effects on the mooring loads analysis, which can be hydrodynamic or mechanical, e.g., for arrays of fish cages (Tang et al., 2020), the influence of fish in a fish cage (He et al., 2018), dynamics of submerged tunnels (Jin & Kim, 2020), or sloshing effects in closed cages (Su et al., 2021).
- Identification of hydrodynamic coefficients and related loads for fish cages composed of slender elements and nets, often subjected to large deformation (e.g., Cifuentes &

Kim, 2017; Jin et al., 2021; Shen et al., 2018). For structures consisting of an assembly of slender elements, dependency of the drag coefficient on the Reynolds number and Keulegan-Carpenter number in oscillatory flows with varying amplitudes and periods in irregular waves needs to be taken into account.

- Considering inhomogeneous wave loads, which may be relevant for very long structures installed near shore (e.g., Dai et al., 2021).
- Considering changing bathymetry, both in terms of finite water depth hydrodynamic effects and in terms of mooring configuration (Wang et al., 2019).

Some of the recent relevant works are described and discussed in the following sub-sections.

#### 4.2.1 Hydro-elastic responses

The conventional mooring analysis considers the motion of the floater as a rigid body. However, many structures intended for ocean space utilization are designed as Very Large Floating Structures (VLFS) to adapt to special use. As the dimension of the floater increases, the elastic deflection of the floater become significant, which can have an impact on mooring tensions.

Ni et al. (2018) established a coupled numerical analysis method for a VLFS and mooring system based on the three-dimensional hydroelasticity and quasi-static mooring analysis method. The elastic deflection amplitudes and phases of various modes of a VLFS were first computed in regular waves in frequency domain. These were then converted into time series for the specified real sea state, and time domain simulations for the vessel motion and mooring tension were performed. In the time domain simulation, the displacements at mooring connection points on the vessel included both the rigid body motion and elastic deflection of the vessel. A single VLFS module was analyzed together with a mooring system to demonstrate the procedure of the analysis. A second case study consisted of three modules with a mooring system. The calculation results matched well with the data from model tests. The elastic deflections at the mooring points were small, however, due to the high frequency, the related loads may contribute to fatigue damage.

Nguyen et al. (2018) proposed the use of vertical elastic mooring lines to reduce the hydroelastic responses of a pontoon-type VLFS. The mooring lines were connected at the fore and aft edges of the VLFS and used in addition to the dolphin-rubber fender mooring system that was used to restrict the horizontal motions of the structure. The rectangular shaped VLFS was modelled as a Mindlin plate floating on an ideal fluid, for which linear potential theory was applied. The hydroelastic analysis was performed in frequency domain using a hybrid finite element– boundary element (FE-BE) method. The stiffnesses of the mooring lines were optimized for maximum reduction in the hydroelastic response using the Differential Evolution algorithm. It was found that hydroelastic responses of VLFS could be significantly reduced by using vertical elastic mooring lines with optimal stiffnesses.

Kristiansen & Borvik (2018) presented an investigation of a new concept for a floating solar photovoltaic island. The system comprised a circular elastic collar covered with an aircushion supported membrane deck. The numerical model was based on potential theory combined with a Euler beam model for the collar and an aircushion model for the vertical loads on the membrane. Point loads due to moorings attached to the floating collar were considered by the beam model. A modal approach was followed to represent the motions. The investigation included model tests where the model was moored with a horizontal system composed of four lines with prescribed stiffness. A reasonably good agreement was achieved for the vertical motions. However, the authors stated that the agreement of mooring line loads for the flexible island with a simplified model including surge were not satisfactory.

Wan et al. (2018) proposed a modular floating concept for oil storage, which was composed of modular floating tanks and barges. An innovative mooring system consisting of several mooring lines besides the fender system was proposed and investigated.

#### 4.2.2 Coupling effects

Multi-body hydrodynamics were considered for the mooring system design of aquaculture net cages. Tang et al. (2020) investigated the dynamic responses of a net-cage system using a timedomain numerical model based on Morison equation and a lumped-mass scheme. The cages were arranged in a row along the flow direction. In order to simulate the shielding effect, which decreased the water particle speed at the downstream net panel due to the previous cages, a reduction factor of 0.85 by each previous net cage was introduced to the water particle velocity of the waves and current. The effects of mooring system failure were further investigated for this multi-cage case. With the same number of cages attached, the maximum mooring line tension on the remaining anchor always increased after the failure. In addition, the maximum line tension under the failure state increased with the number of cages; however, the tension ratio relative to that under the normal state remained almost constant.

A Submerged Floating Tunnel (SFT) was proposed as an effective alternative to conventional bridges and underground/immersed tunnels for passing through deep water. Jin & Kim (2020) developed a time domain coupled hydroelastic dynamic model to solve the tunnel-mooring-train interaction under wave excitations. The equations of motion for a tunnel and mooring lines were based on FE (finite element) rod theory with Galerkin formulations. The tunnel was coupled with mooring lines through a specially devised connection method with linear and rotational springs. Wave induced hydrodynamic loads were estimated by Morison equation for a moving object. The train was modeled using a multi-rigid-body dynamic method, in which a train element was composed of seven constituent rigid sub-bodies. The interaction between the tunnel and the train was taken into consideration based on the correspondence assumption and the simplified Kalker linear creep theory. The safety requirements were evaluated under moderately rough wave conditions and track irregularity.

The influence of fish on the mooring loads of a floating net cage was studied numerically and experimentally by He et al. (2018). Two experimental series were conducted with fish occupying a total of 2.5% of the fish cage volume. In the first experiment, they used nine rigid fish models, which were placed inside the net cage without touching the net and towed with the net cage. The other case employed live fish (more than 800 salmons of 16 cm length) in conditions with waves and current. The flow-displacement effect of a rigid fish in current was simulated by a potential-flow slender-body theory. Viscous wake effects were added. The displacement flow was clearly more important than the viscous wake flow. Both the numerical simulations and the model tests with rigid fish in current showed that the fish influence on the mooring loads of the fish cage was less than 3% of the mooring load without fish. However, the measured mooring loads with live fish in current were between 10% and 28% larger than without fish. The reason was contact between the fish and the net cage. Accounting for the latter fact in the numerical model by changing the local solidity ratio of the net in the contact area gave reasonable numerical predictions. The experiments in waves and combined waves and current also showed a non-negligible influence of the fish on the mooring loads. The waves influenced the behavior of the fish and some of the fish went to the net bottom possibly because they were uncomfortable in the wave zone.

Su et al. (2021) applied a frequency domain and a time domain numerical model for calculation of closed rigid fish cages in waves. The coupled time domain solution employed potential flow hydrodynamic coefficients for the wave-structure interactions, a cable model for the mooring lines representing gravity and hydrodynamic loads and a weakly nonlinear multi-modal method to simulate the sloshing inside the cage. The analysis showed that sloshing had a large influence on the coupled heave and pitch motion of the cage, as well as on the wave drift forces and therefore on the mooring line loads.

Liang et al. (2019) presented a mooring system design methodology combining the Non-dominated Sorting Genetic Algorithm-II (NSGA-II) with the vessel mooring coupled model. The method was applied to design the mooring system for a semi-submersible VLFS. The study concluded that the accurate dynamic responses of vessel and mooring system could be used as objective function.

Coupled mooring analysis was also discussed in the literature for more generic mooring problems. Barrera et al. (2020) presented the importance of mooring design parametrization on the dynamic behavior of mooring loads. The dynamic numerical model showed a good accuracy with the experimental tests at the fairlead of the mooring system. Jiang et al. (2020) discussed the standard design procedures and simulation tools for marine structures used for offshore oil and gas installations. The validation was performed for the dynamic mooring system analysis technique that coupled the dynamic mooring model with a RANS equation solver. Hermawan & Furukawa (2020) proposed a coupled dynamics model of multi-component mooring lines to analyze the motion of an offshore structure. The study suggested that three-dimensional mooring line treatment needs to be considered as lateral mooring line motion had considerable impact on mooring line tension.

#### 4.2.3 Hydrodynamics of fish cages with nets

Shen et al. (2018) investigated the wave induced responses on a fish farm system comprising a flexible floating collar and flexible net cage, which were moored by a system with bridle lines, frame lines and anchor lines supported by buoys. The investigations combined numerical modelling with model testing and included survival conditions. Hydroelasticity was considered for the floating collar and sinker tube, while a truss model represented the net cage where the hydrodynamic loads were predicted by a screen model. The Morison force model was applied to represent the hydrodynamic loads on the mooring lines. The numerical model was validated by comparisons with test data. The results showed that the bridle lines experience larger loads than the mooring lines. The flow reduction factor in the rear part of the net was the most important parameter for the mooring line loads. Regarding survival conditions, as long as the bridle lines were designed accordingly. However, reduction in volume of the net cage might be a problem.

A complete analysis of the hydrodynamic response of a single fish cage under current, regular waves, regular waves/current, and irregular waves/current loading condition was presented by Cifuentes & Kim (2017). The comparison between the results of wave-only and the collinear combination of regular waves and current loading showed a significant effect of current on the mooring load. In waves only, the tension on the mooring lines was greatly influenced by the wave height. As for the combined wave/current case, the tendency of mooring line tension varied almost linearly with wavelength and the influence of wave height was less pronounced. The slope of the tension curves was less steep in the combined case than for waves only. Under irregular waves and currents, the spectra for the mooring line tension showed peaks at the wave frequencies and low frequencies. The low-frequency peak was generated by the nonlinear viscous drag load over the cage. For strong currents, the effect of current and wave loading was of similar importance for mooring line tension.

Jin et al., (2021) presented a numerical model to calculate the motion responses and mooring line loads on the Ocean Farm 1 fish farm offshore structure. Ocean Farm 1 consisted of a quasirigid frame structure that supported the net to form an enclosed volume for the fish. The numerical model combined potential flow hydrodynamics for the frame elements, drag coefficients for the slender elements, and a screen model for the net panels. The mooring line hydrodynamics was represented by a finite element model and Morison load model. Since low frequency motions were important for the mooring loads, the wave drift forces were represented by full quadratic transfer functions. The fully coupled responses were calculated in the time domain for conditions with waves and current. Numerical predictions were systematically compared with model test data. The results showed reasonable to good agreement of wave frequency responses. However, prediction of low frequency motions was more challenging, and significant differences were observed between tests and predictions.

#### 4.2.4 Inhomogeneous wave conditions

Dai et al. (2021) studied the mooring lines for a floating bridge under the action of wave loads. The bridge considered in the study was a 4.6 km long straight and side-anchored floating pontoon bridge for crossing the Bjørnafjord. Inhomogeneous wave field was taken into account due to the large span of the crossing and a complex topography. Thus, in the numerical studies, one homogeneous wave condition, typically an annual maximum sea state, and two modified inhomogeneous wave conditions accounting for different spatial variations of wave characteristics (H<sub>s</sub>, T<sub>p</sub> and  $\theta_p$ ), were considered. Time domain simulations showed that the extreme values of the mooring line tensions were mainly governed by the pretension and thus they were virtually unaffected by the inhomogeneity of the wave conditions. However, inhomogeneous wave loads had a considerable effect on the standard deviations of mooring line tension, which characterized the dynamic components of the responses.

#### 4.2.5 Seabed effects

Seabed features such as the slope and bottom friction may have an influence on mooring system design, depending on the water depth.

Wang et al. (2019) proposed a new catenary-taut-tendon hybrid mooring system used in a semisubmersible type VLFS (floating runaway) over uneven seabed. The motion response of a single module (SMOD) in a coastal region was investigated via time-domain approach and validated against model tests. Hydrodynamic coefficients of the SMOD were obtained using a conventional panel method and mooring tensions were simulated using a lumped mass method. Catenary mooring lines with considerable anchor radius were deployed on the deep-water side of the SMOD and taut mooring lines on the other side. A tendon system was also applied to meet the strict heave motion requirement of the floating runway. The analysis indicated that both mooring system and seabed topography have significant influence on the SMOD motion responses in the coastal region. The influences of tendon and taut mooring stiffness on the SMOD motions and mooring safety were further studied by sensitivity analyses. The results revealed that the SMOD with larger tendon and taut line stiffness have smaller sway and roll motion responses in severe environmental condition.

Huang et al. (2019) assessed several mooring systems designed for floating wave energy converters (WECs) in deep water locations with a steep sloping seabed (ocean cliffs). Considering the manufacturing and installation costs and the bathymetrical features as well as the technical requirements, the study considered three kinds of mooring systems: catenary mooring system, synthetic cable (polyester) taut mooring system, and suspended anchoring point mooring system. The latter consisted of a hanging heavy block, which was suspended over the very steep cliff. The angle of the seabed slope ranged from  $30^{\circ}$  to  $90^{\circ}$ . The numerical results showed that both chain catenary and synthetic rope taut mooring system were fit for purpose for mooring of a WEC in deep water with the seabed slope angle around  $30^{\circ}$ , and the catenary mooring system was more suitable considering economic costs and system feasibility. When the angle of the slope increased further, the suspended anchor point solution became the sound and economical scheme. The hanging heavy block moored on seabed by an additional chain efficiently provided the necessary main restoring force, even in a high slope configuration.

To investigate the influence of different types of seabed friction on the mooring lines, two types of friction were considered in a series of experiments by Barrera et al. (2019). One of them simulated a non-deformable seabed, which can be assimilated to a rocky bottom. The other configuration simulated a deformable bottom of a sandy seabed, in which the ballast coefficient representing the elastic characteristic of seabed has higher influence than in the previous case. The results showed that the tension increased in the sandy bottom due to the sand-chain friction by burial and footprints in the seabed. It also increased the vertical distance between the anchor and fairlead increasing the loads on the mooring lines as well. The authors observed differences between 4 and 15%.

## 4.3 Challenges and future trends

The station keeping system of floating structures aimed for ocean space utilization may be grouped into three main types: (1) caisson or pile-type dolphins with rubber fender system, used when there are strict requirements in terms of maximum horizontal motions of the floater and the water depth is small. (2) mooring lines, which is the most common solution for station keeping. (3) dynamic positioning (DP), which is applied in connection to operations requiring precise positioning and minimal horizontal motions. DP has rarely been considered for positioning of OSU structures of the type discussed in the present report.

The knowledge and best practices used by the traditional offshore oil and gas sector can in great part be transferred and applied to design mooring systems for more general ocean space utilization. However, the financial constrains are different, as well as several of the technical challenges. Relevant practical solutions have been introduced to reduce the initial and operational costs, the operational loads, and the environmental impact, as described in the text.

Regarding the existing design tools and recommended practices, they can in general address the challenges involved with the mooring system design for OSU, but in several cases with quite large uncertainties involved. This means that using the existing tools often implies oversimplifying physical phenomena, which are specific to the OSU structure under analysis. There is therefore a need for new developments and improvements of numerical modelling. The challenges are related to establishing design loads and responses for non-conventional structures and they include: correct representation of hydroelastic responses of flexible structures and their effects on mooring loads, considering complex coupling effects both hydrodynamic and mechanical, use of correct force models for slender structures and fish net panels, as well as considering complex bathymetries both in terms of hydrodynamic effects and mooring system configuration. Advances have been achieved over the recent years as described herein.

### 5. RULES, REGULATIONS, BEST PRACTICE

Rules and regulations have been a topic covered by ISSC for years. Historically, ISSC has a focus on ships and offshore oil and gas industries. As the industry broadens and becomes involved in emerging markets, this Ocean Space Utilization Committee addressed a few emerging markets that offer opportunities for naval architects to advance research and development.

#### 5.1 Complex regime of rules and regulations

Rules and regulations for man-made structures at sea are very complex and hard to understand to many. A proven regime has been established for ships and offshore oil and gas industry, which has been evolving over time. For the broader applications in the field of Ocean Space Utilization, this established regime can provide a starting point. However, e.g., for floating cities, the legal framework for selling houses on a floating property does not even exist, yet. This section summarizes the existing rules and regulations with respect to Ocean Space Utilization. The rules and regulations may be categorized into (1) Regulations, (2) Industrial standards and 3) Classification rules as described below.

#### Regulations

- International regulations. The United Nations' International Maritime Organization (IMO) has been playing the central role in protecting life at sea and in preventing pollution to marine environment. IMO's regulations such as SOLAS, MARPOL, ICLL are still the corner stones for all human activities at seas. Since 1982, the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Seas (UNCLOS) provides a baseline legal framework for areas beyond national jurisdiction.
- Regional and state regulations. European Union (EU) has been very proactive. EU plays a pivotal role in maritime emission controls, which eventually become adopted by other regions and countries around the world.

• Country/state regulations. More and more countries are introducing their own regulations that are often more stringent than international regulations. Being mostly stationed in one location within the jurisdiction of a country, the man-made structures for Ocean Space Utilization are heavily influenced by the requirements of the coastal state.

#### Industry standards such as API, NORSOK, IEC, ISO

- Take API as an example. API Codes are widely used in designing and operating structures at seas. Though established mainly for offshore oil and gas industry, the API codes are also the starting point when one wants to design innovative structures for a new/unique application. Similarly, NORSOK is becoming more and more applied.
- IEC plays a central role in guiding offshore wind turbine design, including the design of the support structures for the wind turbines. The platforms of wind turbines are considered the foundation supporting the sophisticated wind turbine; they are designed to serve the purposes. The class rules developed for these platforms all started with load cases adopted from IEC Code.

#### Rules of classification societies

• Class rules may be considered as best practice guidelines, because class rules were initially intended to be formalized requirements established based on long-standing good practice. Over time, especially since design based on analysis came into existence, class rules may come first before the industry has built up enough experiences. Take offshore wind substructure as an example, classification societies have been proactive in writing rules for guiding the structural designs ahead of many actual projects. This is helpful to the industry on one hand as the rules mature together with the growth of actual application. It also implies that there is tremendous room for the class rules to advance and refine.

Table 5.1 shows some examples of rules and regulations for Ocean Space Utilization applications. This table is not a comprehensive list by any means, but it is intended to show the areas where expertise and knowledge of naval architects become increasingly relevant. The other intent of this table is to show, in a very simplistic manner, the links between regulations and industrial best practice.

It is important to note that rules and regulations are far less matured in these emerging applications. This means an opportunity for naval architects and offshore engineers to support rule development for regulatory bodies and classification societies.

Needs	1. Regulation (International, Re- gional & State)	2. Industrial standard	3. Class rules	
Offshore Wind Turbine	UK, USA, Nor- way, (DNVGL 2020)	IEC 61400-3De- sign require- ments for off- shore wind tur- bines IEC PT 61400- 3-2 Design requirements for floating offshore wind turbines	<ul> <li>DNVGL-RU-OU-0512 Floating offshowind turbine installations</li> <li>DNVGL-ST-0119 Floating wind turbine structures</li> <li>ABS Guide for Floating offshore wind turbine installations</li> <li>ABS Guide for Bottom-founded Offshore Wind Turbines</li> <li>ClassNK Guideline for Offshore Floating Wind Turbine Structures</li> <li>BV Guidance Note for Classification and Certification of Floating Offshore Wind Turbines</li> <li>RINA Guide for Certification of Floating Wind Turbine Installation</li> <li>CCS Guidelines for Floating Wind Platform (draft)</li> </ul>	
Deepsea minerals mining, ROV, AUV	UNCLOS, Interna- tional Marine Min- erals Society (IMMS) Code for Environmental Management of Marine Mining, International Sea- bed Authority (ISA) Mining Code	NORSOK U- 102 Remotely operated vehicle (ROV) services	ABS Rules for building and classing under- water vehicles, systems and hyperbaric facili- ties, 2017 CCS Rules for building and classing under- water vehicles, 2018 DNV Rules for classification underwater technology, Part 5 types of UWT systems Chapter 9 underwater working machines and systems	
Marine aquacul- ture	EU Norway Aquacul- ture Stewardship Council Salmon standard NS9415- 2009 on "Marine fish farms require- ments for site sur- vey, risk analyses, design, dimension- ing, production, in- stallation and oper- ation"		DNVGL-RU-OU-0503 Offshore Fish Farm- ing Units and Installations ABS Guide for Building and Classing Off- shore Fish Farming Installations	

Table 5.1: Example Rules, Regulations and Best Practices

## 5.2 Influences of other industries

An important aspect is that the markets covered by this Ocean Space Utilization Committee are normally led and driven by other industries. The rules and regulations for ships and/or floating

platforms (offshore oil and gas industries) need to be customized to accommodate the unique needs for OSU.

Take offshore wind turbines (OWT) as an example. Designs of OWT are heavily influenced by the International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC). IEC is the association that is dominated by the wind turbine manufacturers. The IEC Code 61400-series was developed mostly by the wind turbine industry, based on the experiences and practices of onshore wind turbine (Wang, 2021). The classification societies DNV and ABS have adopted these IEC Codes and have revised their rules for OWT following the moves in IEC. Expectedly, over time, more and more experience will be gained, and the OWT industry along with the classification societies will understand and identify gaps in rules and regulations. See also Hopstad et al. (2020) for an overview of government requirements, standards, guidelines, and other certification requirements within offshore wind for Norway and internationally.

An important revision common to both DNV and ABS rules is related to stability requirements. As shown in the following figure, which is extracted from the ABS Floating Offshore Wind Turbine (FOWT) Guide (American Bureau of Shipping, 2020), the stability curve of the FOWT takes a stepped shape, combining a segment for "power production" and another one for "rotor parked". This is a distinct feature, taking the operating characteristics of an FOWT into account that stops operation if its inclination becomes too large. This is different from many stability curves that are used in conventional offshore applications.



FIGURE 1 Intact Stability Curve for the RNA in Power Production

Figure 5.1: Intact Stability of Floating Offshore Wind Turbine (FOWT) (American Bureau of Shipping, 2020)



Figure 5.2. Risk of FOWT in comparison with other industries in the scale of Whitman (Wang, 2021)

A main driver of this unique stability curve is the demand for striking a balance between safety and commercial viability. An FOWT is unmanned, which is different from many offshore platforms in the oil and gas industries. Thus, the risk profile of an FOWT is quite different from that of a platform for oil or gas production, see the risk comparison in Fig. 5.2 (Wang, 2021) according to the scale of Whitman (1984). Therefore, FOWT industry needs a different way of managing the risks.

On a different note, floating offshore infrastructure projects and floating cities are intended for use by regular citizens, who, unlike personnel in the shipping as well as offshore oil and gas industry, are not trained for working and living on floating structures. For such projects, inspiration for stability, safety, and comfort regulations may need to be sought in the cruise shipping sector, where thousands of people rely on the safe design and operation of their ship.

Similarly, in deep-sea mining, the technology solutions require contributions in the areas of Remotely Operated (Underwater) Vehicles (ROVs), Autonomous Underwater Vehicles (AUVs), and deep-sea-going submersibles. The main challenges seem to be encountered by those bringing samples/minerals from the seabed to the surface. While there are class rules for guiding designs and operations, tremendous opportunities exist in advancing the technologies and rules related to underwater vehicles – manned and unmanned, remotely operated, autonomous or not.

Offshore aquaculture encompasses a broad range of production systems located in deep water marine environments (O'Shea et al., 2019). These operations are fully exposed to open-ocean conditions of wind, waves, storms, and currents. Concerns over limited nearshore sites, environmental sustainability, and food security have also led to new, state-sponsored development projects for offshore aquaculture. Class rules for aquacultures are mostly taken from the experiences in the offshore oil and gas industries. Where they are relevant for the most part, there are many technical challenges that arise from the needs of fishing industry. The structures are much more flexible, for which analysis tools are not necessarily fully tested.

## 5.3 Environmental concerns

Deep sea mining is an example of great public concerns over environmental impact (Pretlove and Blasiak, 2018). It is difficult to fully estimate the real environmental impact of deep-sea mining exploration and exploitation activities due to the fragility of these ecosystems, the

unknown resilience of these systems, and the effectiveness of the anticipated efforts to assist natural recovery (Rademaekers et al., 2015). Nevertheless, it is predicted that these activities will have significant effects if not properly regulated. In terms of deep-sea mining, the most relevant social impacts will likely be associated with several key changes during the mining life cycle, which is potentially a long one (20 - 30 years) and may apply to different stakeholder groups at household, local, regional, national, and international level. Deep-sea mining has been attempted many times by many countries but remains sporadic experiments because of the concerns over environmental damages, the high costs involved, and because of the (im-)maturity of technologies.

It is therefore very relevant to naval architects and offshore engineers to be aware of the high environmental impacts due to the mining operations. With time passing, this environmental concern may introduce innovative technologies that would require redesigns or changes in the way structures for underwater use are designed and evaluated.

#### 5.4 Some technical challenges

Obviously, many of the OSU topics covered in this Committee are new and their applications are few. And yet, some new challenges come into light. There is a need for naval architects and offshore engineers to collaborate with other industries as many of the newly identified challenges require cross disciplinary joint development efforts.

For example, as the offshore wind projects go further offshore, floating wind turbines become increasingly relevant. The offshore wind industry realizes that detailed engineering of an FOWT and accurate calculation of their motions has become a key in design of both the turbine and the support structures. In principle, sophisticated software is needed to simultaneously calculate the aerodynamics of the blades, the dynamics of the tower and floaters, the motion response of the floaters. However, for such a calculation tool to reach the maturity, it has to be developed by many engineers from a diverse range of industries. And this is an example showing the high demand for developing next generation calculation tools in some OSU fields.

## 6. RISK ASSESSMENT

Risk assessment is a process of risk identification, risk analysis, and risk evaluation, where risk is commonly understood as the likelihood that an (undesired) event occurs multiplied by the magnitude of the event's consequences. This general definition makes risk assessment a very wide field with many sub-topics that could be addressed individually. Table 6.1 gives an overview of the variety of risk assessment topics. In an attempt to order the field, the sub-topics are clustered in the three main categories (1) technological risk assessment, (2) socio-economic risk assessment, and (3) environmental risk assessment. However, this allocation is not exclusive since several sub-topics require considerations in more than one cluster. Table 6.1 lists the risk assessment domains that the committee finds relevant for OSU.

Technological	Socio-economic	Environmental		
Risk Assessment	Risk Assessment	Risk Assessment		
<ul> <li>Design</li> <li>Operational</li> <li>Maintenance</li> <li>Structural</li> <li>System</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Marine (traffic and other operations)</li> <li>Societal impact</li> <li>Sustainability</li> <li>Financial</li> <li>Reputational</li> <li>Political</li> <li>Regulatory</li> <li>Stranded asset</li> <li>Health</li> <li>Cyber security</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Climate</li> <li>Ocean (acidification, hypoxia, marine pollution)</li> <li>Ecological/Ecosystem</li> <li>Environmental</li> </ul>		

Table 6.1: Overview of risk assessment topics relevant for OSU

There are different methodologies for assessing the risks: qualitative, quantitative, more complex semi-quantitative methods, and combinations those. For traditional marine industries (offshore oil and gas industry, shipping industry) it is common to adopt risk assessment methodologies and procedures from well-developed safety domains like nuclear industry, chemical industry, space industry, and aviation industry. However, for relatively new ocean space utilization activities, e.g., deep sea mining and renewable energy, the situation is more complex since industry practice and/or legislation regulating risk assessment is limited (if at all existing), see also Section 5. Existing frameworks for (marine) risk assessment tend to be sector specific (van Hoof et al., 2020). It is common to look at the risks from a single perspective (e.g., technical, environmental, social, economic) or from a single consequence viewpoint. However, holistic views on risk assessment are gaining momentum.

#### 6.1 Known unknowns

New complex risks are being introduced to ocean ecosystems as industrialization of the world oceans increases. There is a need to account for potential interplay between technical, socioeconomic, and environmental factors underlying development and management of the ocean resources. Research on risk is often conducted in distinct spheres (engineering research, social science, environmental science) by experts, whose focus is on narrow sources or outcomes of risk. For instance, some fisheries scientific community has developed a framework for ecological risk assessments based on modelling, statistics, and exposure-consequence method (O et al., 2015). These approaches presume that risk can be assessed objectively, is knowable, and that decision-making involves optimizing expected benefits against net losses. According to Phillips (2015), this interpretation of risk neglects societal perceptions of risk, which is a fundamental component of informed environmental management decisions and societal acceptance of new technology. Neglecting societal risk perception may be less relevant during the risk assessment itself, however, is all the more important before and after that. The following list summarizes some current challenges in risk assessment that are common across OSU fields.

- Large uncertainties of environmental conditions for offshore locations.
- New and unproven technologies without safety track-record.
- Definition of acceptable risk levels.
- Acceptable methods for risk assessment, evaluation, and mitigation.
- Subjectivity in measuring societal and environmental impacts.
- Current standards and regulations do not fit new concepts, e.g., in aquaculture sector.
- Commercial/societal challenges/societal acceptance.
- Interaction between OSU activities.

- Climate change and legislations, e.g., Article 234 of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea.
- Inconsistent national rules and international recommendations, e.g., the Rules for Navigation in the Water Area of the Northern Sea Route and International Maritime Organization (Kim & Panchi, 2021).
- Standards are lagging and industry practice becomes a standard.

In the following subsections, three examples of risk assessment approach in different OSU fields are given. The examples are aquaculture in Norway, Offshore Floating Photovoltaics in the Dutch North Sea, and Offshore Wind Farming in UK coastal waters.

The focus of the examples is on identifying specific challenges in common practices and approaches and/or fundamental knowledge gaps.

## 6.2 Aquaculture (Norwegian perspective)

Risk assessments are mandatory by law in the Norwegian aquaculture industry and are controlled by the following five regulatory authorities: Directorate of Fisheries, Food Safety Authority, Norwegian Maritime Authority, Norwegian Labour Inspection Agency, and the County Administration. The relevant aquaculture legislation and regulations were described in Holmen et al. (2017). Their analysis of current practices showed that most efforts were put into the documentation of actions to mitigate environmental hazards, i.e., fish escapes (Føre & Thorvaldsen, 2021; Jensen et al., 2010; Thorvaldsen et al., 2015) and that the current practice for risk assessments deviates from regulatory requirements (Holmen et al., 2018, Tab. 3). The largest deviations were found in the planning phase and regarding the involvement of workers in the analysis phase, see e.g., (Thorvaldsen et al., 2020). Furthermore, there was lack of knowledge of risk factors during aquaculture operations. Several challenges were identified regarding risk assessment performance: (1) allocating sufficient time to gather all relevant personnel for risk assessments; (2) lack of motivation as the risk assessment was often seen as an unavoidable "exercise" to satisfy the demands of the authorities or their own management; (3) finalizing the risk documentation was regarded as more important than checking whether the significant risks were understood and mitigated; (4) broad scope of risk assessments; and (5) the follow-up work might not be prioritized. Recommendations on how risk assessment practice could be improved during planning, analysis, and evaluation steps as well as an overview of the risk influencing factors and safety indicators in fish farm operations can be found in (Holmen et al., 2018, Sec. 4; Utne et al., 2017) and (Holmen et al., 2021), respectively.

## 6.3 Offshore Floating Photovoltaics

In the Netherlands, Offshore Floating Photovoltaics (OFPV) is considered one possible pillar for future renewable energy supply (van 't Wout, 2021). A first pilot project is already operational in Dutch coastal waters (Oceans of Energy, 2020). Against this background, an MSc thesis was conducted at TU Delft by Ivardi Daroen (2021) to identify the main challenges of an OFPV risk analysis and to propose an approach to handle these challenges. The focus of that study was placed on technological risks. The following challenges were identified.

• For OFPV there was no specific (or standard) risk assessment approaches for technological risks, which prevents a more consistent assessment (IEA, 2011). Only a limited amount of literature regarding OFPV risk assessments was found. The only risk assessments were performed by Gao et al. (2021) and Wu et al. (2019), both multivariate analyses performed in China. These studies covered mainly risk factors related to decision-making for investors and policymakers, including overviews of the PESTLE (Political, Economic, Social, Technological, Legal, Environmental (Kolios, et al., 2016)) risk factors. However, a clear gap was identified in literature assessing the technological risk factors associated with the performance of OFPV systems. This gap included all elements of risk assessment, i.e., the identification of events, risk cause analysis, risk consequence analysis and evaluation. Furthermore, current standards for risk

assessment that were established for the offshore oil and gas industry were only applicable to a limited extent (Leimeister and Kolios, 2018). Since the main components of OFPV system included floating support structures, module connectors, PV module support frame, mooring system, and PV power system, the difference between the failure of the structural components and electrical components of the OFPV system needed to be considered.

- Lack of risk cause and quantitative reliability analyses performed for OFPV. For inland floating PV, a limited number of reliability studies was performed in the available literature, which were mainly qualitative. Both qualitative and quantitative risk cause analysis could contribute to risk assessment for OFPV at current development stages. Based on a literature review, Ranjbaran et al. (2019) also concluded that more research regarding the reliability of floating PV was necessary.
- A risk consequence analysis has not been performed for OFPV. For the modelling of scenarios due to an event, the event tree analysis was the most widely used method in literature. However, the physical consequences due to an initiating event and quantification of these consequences were less obvious. To account for the risk consequences, methods were proposed, which incorporated economic aspects and failure costs, such as a cost priority number (CPN) to compare different systems. However, the required additional cost parameters might form an obstacle for OFPV, given the current phase of concept developments and the design confidentiality.
- A multivariate analysis has not been performed for OFPV yet during the risk prioritization. Methods to evaluate the sensitivity of the results have been observed in literature, but these have not been executed yet for OFPV.
- Currently no probabilistic database specifically for OFPV, nor for floating PV in general, has been found in the literature. Leimeister & Kolios (2018) remarked that for novel offshore systems overall, lack of data, data confidentiality, costs, time, and computational efficiency challenged the risk and reliability assessment. The gap in literature regarding probabilistic OFPV data for the quantification of risk and reliability was significant. Note that the descriptive data for an OFPV system was available and sufficient to describe the main functions of the technology and to grade the subsystems and components accordingly. This data was adequate to assess the technical risks of OFPV qualitatively, supplemented by descriptive data for individual subsystems and components from comparable technologies, e.g., land-based PV, inland FPV, and offshore floating structures. However, due to confidentiality of the OFPV concepts currently developed, several design specifications were lacking. Other environmental descriptive data was widely available from the offshore industry and PV industry. When it is not feasible to obtain probabilistic data of an actual OFPV system, a valid way to deal with lacking data is to base failure rates on existing substitute databases from other technologies with more available information, such as the OREDA database. However, the application of substitute databases (from other technologies with more available information) presents another knowledge gap.

To address these challenges, Daroen (2021) first defined his research object as a generic, multimodular floating OFPV installation situated between four bottom-founded offshore wind turbines in the Dutch North Sea. He conducted a preliminary hazard identification (HAZID) as well as failure mode and effect analysis (FMEA) and showed that these generic concepts were applicable to OFPV. Literature references from other fields were used to identify the possible hazards and failure mechanisms. For the subsequent system reliability analysis, a Fault Tree Analysis (FTA) according to Jonkman et al. (2015) was conducted and Minimum Cut Sets (MCS) were identified following the definition by Rausand & Hoyland (2004). As an example for an element reliability analysis, Daroen (2021) selected a mooring line of the system and applied a structural reliability analysis (see Nilsen et al., 1998) to quantify the failure rate of the element. Rosenblatt transformation was used to obtain normal distributions for the random variables in the limit state function from non-normal stochastic distributions. The normalized distributions were then used in a First Order Reliability Method (FORM). The process for the consequence analysis was outlined using Event Tree Analysis (ETA; Rausand & Haugen, 2020) and scenarios. Eventually, an exemplary risk evaluation based on the quantitative results of the previous steps was conducted using rating scales as proposed by Rausand & Haugen (2020) and Proskovics et al. (2016).

## 6.4 Floating Offshore Wind Turbines

The risk of Floating Offshore Wind Turbines (FOWT) was assessed and studied in terms of a dissertation research work of Gabriela Grasu (2021) in a joint master's program, MTEC, among Newcastle University, University of Southampton, and University College of London. The following literature review was extracted from her dissertation.

Research and developments of floating offshore wind technology have been performed since the beginning of this millennium and currently the FOWT are part of the long-term strategy of many international agencies and associations. To this date FOWT are still considered as an immature sector. In 2017, WindEurope within its statement "Floating Offshore Wind Vision Statement" (2017), presented the expected commissioning dates for the most advanced European FOWT projects at that time. Table 6.2 compares the initial estimation with their current status.

From Table 6.2, it is noticed that almost 50% of the initial projects were cancelled and only one project was delivered on time. The major factors were the financial support and the technical complexity for maintaining the asset integrity. Both, financial support and maintenance complexity are directly related to the existence of hazards associated with this technology. They are present through the entire life of the project, which starts at design phase and ends with its decommissioning.

Several international agencies, associations and institutions launched and financed research programs to overcome the challenges of FOWT and prepare the path towards commercialization. The International Energy Agency (IEA) facilitated the collaboration, between its member countries, under EU H2020 LIFES50+ project to address the offshore wind challenges by setting up several research tasks, which also included a bespoke risk assessment framework (Proskovics & Hutton, 2016).

The main function of a floating offshore wind turbine is to safely produce sustainable energy at a competitive cost. However, each system composing an FOWT plant will present its own set of specific hazards and associated risk scores, having a distinct impact on the FOWT overall performance. Wind turbine blade failure will trigger very high consequences, especially when occurring during operation. Based on the daily renewable energy newsletters ("Blade and Nacelle Failures," 2021), the most frequent blade failure modes were: blade became loose due to bonding failure of the blade root inserts, blade separated from the hub, blade broke or destroyed, and blade loss due to failure of blade internal structural member known as the shear web. Blade parts or an entire blade could affect the plant systems and/or the supporting sub-structures causing minor or major damage of their function. The same source ("Blade and Nacelle Failures," 2021) also indicated major equipment failure modes such as Rotor-Nacelle Assembly (RNA) collapse or nacelle fire. Failures of the FOWT were identified during the transportation phase, such as extreme heeling of the Floater Unit (Foster, 2016). Cases of capsize and sinkage of the prototypes have been recorded due to improper installation maneuvers or extreme weather conditions ("Extreme Weather Causes Floating Wind Turbine Prototype To Sink," 2011, "Saitec floating turbine capsizes off Spanish coast," 2020, "SKWID Sinks Off Japan," 2014).

Table 6.2: FOWT Project comparison (created in a MSc	Dissertation (Grasu, 2021) based on
a technical report (Wind Europe,	, 2017) by Wind Europe.

Project name	Capacity	Country	Expected Commissioning date	Status (March 2021)	Reference
Dounreay Tri	2x5 MW	Scotland	2018	Under Development with Hexicon	Russell (2020)
Gaelectic	30 MW	Ireland	2021	Cancelled	"4C Offshore, Gaelectric/Ideol Offshore Wind Farm: Project Details." (n.d.)
Hywind Scotland	30 MW	Scotland	2017	Operational since 2017	Equinor (2017)
Wind Float Atlantic	30 MW	Portugal	2018-2019	Fully operational 2020	Richard (2020)
Kincardine	48 MW	Scotland	From 2018	On-going manufacturing and Installation	Cruickshank (2021)
French pre- commercial farms	4x25 MW	France	2020	Newly estimated commission date 2023	Randall-Smith (n.d.)
Atlantis/Ideol project	100 MW	UK	2021	Cancelled	"4C Offshore, Ideol/atlantis Energy1.5 Floating Project Offshore Wind Farm: Project Details" (n.d.)

According to the particularities of each FOWT concept and the complex context of the market where they are deployed, the following conclusions can be drawn.

- The FOWT market specificity and selected concept will determine particular risk sets.
- Many risks related to the Bottom Fixed Offshore Wind are transferrable to the FOWT.
- New specific risks have arisen for FOWT structures and systems, such as capsizing and sinkage of the floating support structures.
- As unmanned structure with little to no hydrocarbons onboard, FOWT has a very different risk profile from offshore oil & gas platform. And as a result, great care needs to be taken when transferring expertise from offshore oil & gas industry to FOWT.
- Asset integrity and maintainability improvements should be achieved by a realistic and comprehensive risk understanding.
- The transparency of risks and their mitigations may encourage financial support.

Note that for all three activities considered above, the application in offshore environment may cause larger environmental loads, corrosion, humidity, icing and thus result in additional challenges related to the performance and safety of these systems including human personnel. In terms of structural safety, accidental collisions with ships should also be considered.

Current research trends in risk assessment domain include: (1) development of methods/tools and infrastructures for dynamic risk assessments; (2) increase of automation system approach to human error and multi-risk approaches; (3) greater involvement of users in the research community, however, this is rarely (if at all) applied in practice.

## 6.5 Mooring systems

One of the main obstacles for the quantitative risk assessment of the mooring line in Daroen's work (2021) on OFPV was finding the mooring loads. Ikhennicheu et al. (2021) summarized analytical methods to determine the environmental loads of floating PV systems in three reference cases including an offshore condition based on current industrial practice.

Considering external loads, such as wind, waves and current, Ohmatsu (2005) proposed a risk analysis method of the VLFS mooring system. Taking the slowly varying wave drift force and the friction drag component of wind and current load into account, the proposed risk analysis method was found suitable for VLFS with vast horizontal dimensions.

Sulaiman et al. (2013a) described a mooring system design for very large offshore aquaculture ocean plantation floating structure that accounted for forces and environmental loadings. An evaluation of optimum mooring performance in wave, wind and current loadings on mooring components was conducted. Besides, the authors also discussed the suitable safety factors and coefficients for the design of mooring systems for very large offshore aquaculture floating structures. Furthermore, Sulaiman et al. (2013b) conducted a qualitative risk analysis of a floating aquaculture plant with special emphasis on the mooring system. They conclude that "an integrated approach to risk analysis will assist the aquaculture sector in reducing risks to successful operations ... and can similarly help to protect the environment, society and other resource users from adverse and often unpredicted impacts" Sulaiman et al. (2013b, p.16).

Hallowell et al. (2018) investigated the mooring system reliability of offshore floating wind farms using Monte-Carlo simulations. The study suggested that the reliability of a multiline system with multiple lines ending on a single anchor degraded significantly when the progressive failures were taken into consideration.

## 7. CONCLUSIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS

This Committee investigated and summarized the recent developments in the field of Ocean Space Utilization (OSU). After an inventory of current OSU projects and initiatives in various stages, floating infrastructure projects and floating aquaculture form the largest groups of OSU projects outside of the energy sector. For floating infrastructure projects, the focus is on large to Very Large Floating Structures (VLFS). Due to the large horizontal dimensions of these structures, the inhomogeneity of environmental conditions was specifically addressed. For the hydrodynamic loading, motions, and structural response of VLFS, this committee continued the work of the ISSC2006 committee on VLFS (Suzuki et al., 2006). Here the modelling approaches for hydroelastic response including nonlinearities and the treatment of the connectors for multi-modular floating structures were categorized and the current trends as well as challenges were investigated. A survey on existing and emerging rules, regulations, and best practices for OSU applications and risk assessment case studies on offshore aquaculture, offshore floating photovoltaics, and offshore wind turbines complete this report. The conclusions drawn from the individual sections are summarized in the following subsections.

#### 7.1 Environmental conditions

From the overview of environmental conditions related to OSU and involved VLFS, it is concluded that models for the prediction of extreme ocean events on very large structures should take temporal and spatial variability into account.

Furthermore, wave scattering by the floating structures should be considered, as opposed to ships and conventional offshore structures, where this effect is commonly neglected. E.g., floating breakwaters are specifically designed to reduce the wave height on their leeward side, and artificial islands or floating cities of several square kilometers in size will also cause significant wave scattering that alters the wave conditions in their vicinity.

An additional aspect of environmental conditions specific to Offshore Floating Photovoltaics (OFPV) and some forms of aquaculture is the solar irradiation. This information is scarce for nearshore and offshore locations and can differ significantly from data obtained from nearby land-based stations.

Regarding the ecological impact of very large floating structures, the fact that these structures on the one hand block the sunlight entering the water and on the other hand provide hard substrate offering a new habitat for marine organisms should be considered.

#### 7.2 Global loading, motions, and structural response

For the analysis of global loading, motions and structural response, hydroelasticity of monolithic and multi-modular structures introduces several nonlinear effects. These nonlinearities pose the most critical challenge for analysis methods and calculation programs. The inhomogeneity of environmental conditions and variable seabed bathymetry add to the complexity of the loading and response analysis.

The four key challenges for the development of engineering solution for VLFS are summarized below.

- Effective nonlinear time domain hydroelasticity theories need to be developed to achieve more accurate analysis results for dynamic responses of VLFS under complex sea states.
- Model testing technology for VLFS needs to be improved to meet the challenges of similarity law and complex boundary conditions associated with large model scale ratios to provide a reliable verification and validation basis for the development of newly proposed theories.
- Simplified methods for preliminary design and analysis of VLFS need to be developed. This is particularly important for conceptual designs of VLFS in engineering practice.
- With the proposal of more flexible floating structures for Offshore Floating PV applications, efficient numerical tools need to be developed to consider nonlinear effects of large deformations and wrinkling.

#### 7.3 Positioning and mooring

Three main station keeping systems for OSU structures were identified. These are (1) caisson or pile-type dolphins with rubber fender systems for strict limitations on horizontal motions and shallow water depth; (2) mooring lines, which are the most common station keeping solution; and (3) dynamic positioning, which was rarely considered for the OSU structures covered in this report.

The knowledge and best practices from the conventional offshore oil & gas sector can in great part be transferred and applied to mooring design of more general OSU applications. However, the financial constraints and several of the technical challenges in OSU fields are different. Relevant practical solutions have been introduced to reduce the initial and operational costs, the operational loads, and the environmental impact. The existing design tools and recommended practices can in general address the challenges involved with OSU mooring system design, however, with quite large uncertainties in several cases. Using the existing tools often implies over-simplifying physical phenomena, which are specific to the OSU structure under analysis. Therefore, there is a need for new developments and improvements on numerical modelling. The challenges related to establishing design loads and responses for non-conventional structures include

- Correct representation of hydroelastic responses of flexible structures and their effects on mooring loads.
- Considering complex coupling effects both hydrodynamic and mechanical.
- Using correct force models for slender structures and fish net panels.
- Considering complex bathymetries both in terms of hydrodynamic effects and mooring system configuration.

## 7.4 Rules, regulations, best practices

When considering the landscape of rules, regulations, and best practices for OSU applications, large uncertainties come to light. With most structures and projects under consideration being one-of-a-kind solutions, there is little by way of established rules and guidelines. However, classification societies and other regulating bodies strive to quickly develop guidelines derived from their experience in the conventional offshore industry as well as bottom-founded offshore wind turbines. Floating Offshore Wind Turbines currently receive much attention in the field of Offshore Renewable Energies. The complex interaction from aerodynamics via structural dynamics to hydrodynamics and mooring systems requires a holistic approach from many engineering disciplines and dedicated simulation software still needs to be developed.

Another challenge for widespread Ocean Space Utilization with floating infrastructure and even floating cities is the lack of governance models for such applications. Depending on the location, from coastal waters to the exclusive economic zone, different rules can be applicable even within the same country. International waters are again subject to another set of rules. Furthermore, most national laws do not foresee in floating structures being traded and used in the same way as real estate onshore. Here, social sciences and legal studies are required to develop the appropriate governance models.

## 7.5 Risk assessment

The risk assessment case studies on offshore aquaculture, offshore floating photovoltaics, and floating offshore wind turbines underlined that these are mainly new technologies, where there are no readily available methods for risk assessment and no empirical data to build on. The experience from the offshore oil and gas industry is not easily applicable to many OSU fields due to different risk picture as most OSU structures are either unmanned like OFPV, FOWT, or intended for use by many people like floating infrastructure. The experience of the established offshore industry provides a valuable starting point for the OSU risk assessment. However, a systematic risk assessment procedure needs to be developed to take the differences between the different industries into account.

## 7.6 Recommendations

Based on the literature review presented above and the conclusions, the following recommendations for future research related to Ocean Space Utilization are given.

Dedicated studies on inhomogeneity of environmental conditions in prospective locations for OSU with very large floating structures, e.g., the North Sea and Mediterranean Sea for large-scale OFPV applications should be conducted.

Efficient numerical tools for the coupled mooring analysis of very large and flexible floating structures should be developed, where the interaction of the mooring system and the flexible structures has a significant influence on the mooring loads and structural response. Furthermore,

new numerical tools should be prepared for FOWT analysis that couple aerodynamics, hydrodynamics, structural responses, and mooring dynamics.

The aforementioned developments in the numerical field also require the development of experimental techniques and laboratory setups that allow for the correct scaling of all relevant parameters and effects, including aero- and hydrodynamic loads, structural and mooring stiffness, as well as nonlinear effects from multi-body interconnections.

For the development of industrial standards and best practice guides for design and operation of the broad spectrum of OSU applications, experience from those OSU fields that are further developed, e.g., offshore aquaculture and offshore wind, as well as from conventional offshore oil and gas industry should be gathered and taken into account. This cross-reference will aid greatly in the development of safe and cost-effective designs for other OSU applications.

In terms of governance, Ocean Space Utilization is mostly terra incognita. Therefore, dedicated studies on marine spatial planning, governance of the ocean, and international maritime legislation are recommended to develop a legal framework that enables a sustainable utilization of ocean space.

Overall, OSU projects require a holistic approach including technical, socio-economic, and environmental aspects. Engineers tend to focus on the technical aspects of a project, whereas the business case and the societal acceptance including environmental viability of a project are inevitable factors that determine the project's success or failure.

Obviously, many of the OSU topics covered in this Committee are new and their applications are few. And yet, some new challenges came into light. There is a need for naval architects and offshore engineers, hydrodynamicists, and marine structural engineers to collaborate with other industries as many of the newly identified challenges require cross-disciplinary joint development efforts.

The utilization of ocean space by humans may have started millennia ago, now it is on the verge of a new era, in which industrial scale utilization has to be sustainable for generations to come.

## REFERENCES

- 4C Offshore, Ideol/atlantis Energy1.5 Floating Project Offshore Wind Farm: Project Details [WWW Document], n.d. . [online] Available https://www.4coffshore.com/windfarms/united-kingdom/ideol-atlantis-energy-1.5floating-project-united-kingdom-uk3a.html [Accessed 6 March 2021].
- Addona, F., Chiapponi, L., Clavero, M., Losada, M.A., Longo, S., 2020. On the interaction between partially-reflected waves and an opposing wind. Coast. Eng. 162, 103774. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coastaleng.2020.103774
- Adler, R.J., 2000. On Excursion Sets, Tube Formulas and Maxima of Random Fields. Ann. Appl. Probab. 10, 1–74.
- Adler, R.J., 1981. The Geometry of Random Fields. John Wiley, New York.
- Adler, R.J., Taylor, J.E., 2007. Random Fields and Geometry, Springer-Verlag, New York, Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer New York, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-48116-6
- American Bureau of Shipping, 2020. Guide for Building and Classing Floating Offshore Wind Turbines 2020.
- Arena, F., Malara, G., Romolo, A., 2014. On long-term statistics of high waves via the equivalent power storm model. Probabilistic Eng. Mech. 38, 103–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.probengmech.2014.04.003
- Arena, F., Pavone, D., 2009. A generalized approach for long-term modelling of extreme crestto-trough wave heights. Ocean Model. 26, 217–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocemod.2008.10.003
- Arena, F., Pavone, D., 2006. Return period of nonlinear high wave crests. J. Geophys. Res. 111, C08004. https://doi.org/10.1029/2005JC003407
- Athanassoulis, G.A., Belibassakis, K.A., 1999. A consistent coupled-mode theory for the propagation of small-amplitude water waves over variable bathymetry regions. J. Fluid Mech. volume 75, 275–301.
- Barrera, C., Guanche, R., Losada, I.J., 2019. Experimental modelling of mooring systems for floating marine energy concepts. Mar. Struct. 63, 153–180. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2018.08.003
- Barrera, C., Guanche, R., Rodríguez, Á., Armesto, J.A., Losada, I.J., 2020. On the importance of mooring system parametrisation for accurate floating structure designs. Mar. Struct. 72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2020.102765
- Bastos, M.B., Silva, A.L.N., 2020. Evaluating Offshore Rope Fibers: Impact on Mooring Systems Integrity and Performance, in: Day 2 Tue, May 05, 2020. OTC, Houston, Texas., p. OTC-30830. https://doi.org/10.4043/30830-MS
- Baxevani, A., Rychlik, I., 2006. Maxima for Gaussian seas. Ocean Eng. 33, 895–911. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2005.06.006
- Belibassakis, K.A., 2008. A boundary element method for the hydrodynamic analysis of floating bodies in variable bathymetry regions. Eng. Anal. Bound. Elem. 32, 796–810. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enganabound.2008.02.003
- Belibassakis, K.A., Athanassoulis, G.A., 2005. A coupled-mode model for the hydroelastic analysis of large floating bodies over variable bathymetry regions. J. Fluid Mech. 531, 221–249. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022112005004003
- Belibassakis, K.A., Athanassoulis, G.A., 2004. Three-dimensional Green's function for harmonic water waves over a bottom topography with different depths at infinity. J. Fluid Mech. 510, 267–302.
- Berkhoff, J.C.W., 1972. Computation of combined refraction-diffraction, in: Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Coastal Engineering, Vacouver. pp. 471–490.

- Bertin, X., Martins, K., de Bakker, A., Chataigner, T., Guérin, T., Coulombier, T., de Viron, O., 2020. Energy Transfers and Reflection of Infragravity Waves at a Dissipative Beach Under Storm Waves. J. Geophys. Res. Ocean. 125, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019JC015714
- Bi, C.W., Zhao, Y.P., Dong, G.H., Xu, T.J., 2020. Experimental study on the effects of farmed fish on the hydrodynamic characteristics of the net cage. Aquaculture 524, 735239.
- Bishop, R.E.D., Price, W.G., Wu, Y., 1986. A General Linear Hydroelasticity Theory of Floating Structures Moving in a Seaway 316, 375–426.
- Blade and Nacelle Failures [WWW Document], 2021. . reNEWS.BIZ. URL https://renews.biz/search?s=blade+failure (accessed 3.12.21).
- Boccotti, P., 2015. Wave Mechanics and Wave Loads on Marine Structures, Wave Mechanics and Wave Loads on Marine Structures. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2013-0-13663-X
- Boccotti, P., 2000. Wave Mechanics for Ocean Engineering. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Booij, N., Ris, R.C., Holthuijsen, L.H., 1999. A third-generation wave model for coastal regions:
  1. Model description and validation. J. Geophys. Res. Ocean. 104, 7649–7666. https://doi.org/10.1029/98JC02622
- Buchner, B., 2006. The Motions of a Ship on a Sloped Seabed, in: International Conference on Offshore Mechanics & Arctic Engineering. ASME, Hamburg, Germany.
- Buchner, B., Dijk, A., Wilde, J., 2001. Numerical Multiple-Body Simulations of Side-by-Side Mooring to an FPSO. Proc. Int. Offshore Polar Eng. Conf. 1.
- Callebaut, V., 2015. Lilypad: Floating Ecopolis for Climatical Refugees, in: Wang, C.M., Wang, B.T. (Eds.), Large Floating Structures: Technological Advances. Springer Singapore, Singapore, pp. 303–327. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-287-137-4\_12
- Castillo, E., 1988. Extreme Value Theory in Engineering. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2009-0-22169-6
- Chen, T., Zhang, Q., Wu, Y., Ji, C., Yang, J., Liu, G., 2018. Development of a wave-current model through coupling of FVCOM and SWAN. Ocean Eng. 164, 443–454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2018.06.062
- Chen, X.-J., Juncher, J.J., Cui, W.-C., Tang, X.-F., 2004. Hydroelastic analysis of a very large floating plate with large deflections in stochastic seaway. Mar. Struct. 17, 435–454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2004.12.001
- Chen, X., Wu, Y., Cui, W., Jensen, J.J., 2006. Review of hydroelasticity theories for global response of marine structures. Ocean Eng. 33, 439–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2004.04.010
- Chen, X.B., 2005. Hydrodynamic analysis for offshore LNG terminals. Proc. Second Offshore Hydrodyn. Symp.
- Chen, X.J., Jensen, J.J., Cui, W.C., Fu, S.X., 2003. Hydroelasticity of a floating plate in multidirectional waves. Ocean Eng. 30, 1997–2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0029-8018(03)00020-9
- Cheng, Y., Ji, C., Zhai, G., Gaidai, O., 2016a. Hydroelastic analysis of oblique irregular waves with a pontoon-type VLFS edged with dual inclined perforated plates. Mar. Struct. 49, 31– 57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2016.05.008
- Cheng, Y., Ji, C., Zhai, G., Oleg, G., 2017. Fully nonlinear numerical investigation on hydroelastic responses of floating elastic plate over variable depth sea-bottom. Mar. Struct. 55, 37–61.
- Cheng, Y., Ji, C., Zhai, G., Oleg, G., 2016b. Dual inclined perforated anti-motion plates for mitigating hydroelastic response of a VLFS under wave action. Ocean Eng. 121, 572–591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2016.05.044
- Cheng, Y., Zhai, G., Ou, J., 2014. Time-domain numerical and experimental analysis of hydroelastic response of a very large floating structure edged with a pair of submerged horizontal plates. Mar. Struct. 39, 198–224.

- Cheng, Z., Gao, Z., Moan, T., 2020. Extreme responses and associated uncertainties for a long end-anchored floating bridge. Eng. Struct. 219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.engstruct.2020.110858
- Cheng, Z., Gao, Z., Moan, T., 2018. Wave load effect analysis of a floating bridge in a fjord considering inhomogeneous wave conditions. Eng. Struct. 163, 197–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.engstruct.2018.02.066
- Cheng, Z., Svangstu, E., Moan, T., Gao, Z., 2021. Assessment of inhomogeneity in environmental conditions in a Norwegian fjord for design of floating bridges. Ocean Eng. 220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2020.108474
- Cheng, Z., Svangstu, E., Moan, T., Gao, Z., 2019. Long-term joint distribution of environmental conditions in a Norwegian fjord for design of floating bridges. Ocean Eng. 191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2019.106472
- Chu, Y.I., Wang, C.M., Park, J.C., Lader, P.F., 2020. Review of cage and containment tank designs for offshore fish farming. Aquaculture 519, 734928.
- Chua, K.H., Eatock, T.R., Choo, Y.S., 2018. Hydrodynamic Interaction of Side-by-Side Floating Bodies Part II: Applications of Modified Linear Potential Flow and Numerical Analysis Framework to Fixed Barges. Ocean Eng. 164, 465–481.
- Chua, K.H., Taylor, R.E., Choo, Y.S., 2017. Hydrodynamic interaction of side-by-side floating bodies part I: Development of CFD-based numerical analysis framework and modified potential flow model. Ocean Eng. 166, 404–415.
- Cifuentes, C., Kim, M.H., 2017. Hydrodynamic response of a cage system under waves and currents using a Morison-force model. Ocean Eng. 141, 283–294. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2017.06.055
- Coles, S., 2001. An Introduction to Statistical Modeling of Extreme Values, Springer Series in Statistics. Springer London, London. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4471-3675-0
- Cruickshank, J., 2021. Kincardine's Record Breaking Offshore Wind Farm. The Bellman [WWW Document]. [online] Available https://www.thebellman.co.uk/2021/01/25/kincardine-offshore-wind-farm-growing-in-size/ [Accessed 6 March 2021].
- Cui, W.C., Yang, J.M., Wu, Y.S., Liu, Y.Z., 2007. Hyroelasticity of very large floating structures. Shanghai Jiao Tong University Press.
- Dai, J., Leira, B.J., Moan, T., Alsos, H.S., 2021. Effect of wave inhomogeneity on fatigue damage of mooring lines of a side-anchored floating bridge. Ocean Eng. 219, 108304. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2020.108304
- Dai, J., Leira, B.J., Moan, T., Kvittem, M.I., 2020. Inhomogeneous wave load effects on a long, straight and side-anchored floating pontoon bridge. Mar. Struct. 72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2020.102763
- Dai, J., Wang, C.M., Utsunomiya, T., Duan, W., 2018. Review of recent research and developments on floating breakwaters. Ocean Eng. 158, 132–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2018.03.083
- Dalsøren, S.B., Albretsen, J., Asplin, L., 2020. New validation method for hydrodynamic fjord models applied in the Hardangerfjord, Norway. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2020.107028
- Daroen, I.A., 2021. Risk Assessment of Offshore Floating PV Structures. Delft University of Technology.
- De Hauteclocque, G., Rezende, F., Giorgiutti, Y., Chen, X.B., 2009. Wave kinematics and seakeeping calculation with varying bathymetry, in: Proceedings of the International Conference on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering - OMAE. pp. 515–523. https://doi.org/10.1115/OMAE2009-79517
- Dimkin, E., 2019. Shared anchor solutions for floating offshore windfarms, in: MCE Deepwater Development Conf. London, UK.
- Ding, J., 2015. Hydrodynamic Model Test Outline of a Single Module VLFS Deployed Near an Island.

- Ding, J., Tian, C., Wu, Y. sheng, Li, Z. wei, Ling, H. jie, Ma, X. zhou, 2017. Hydroelastic analysis and model tests of a single module VLFS deployed near islands and reefs. Ocean Eng. 144, 224–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2017.08.043
- Ding, J., Tian, C., Wu, Y. sheng, Wang, X. feng, Liu, X. long, Zhang, K., 2019. A simplified method to estimate the hydroelastic responses of VLFS in the inhomogeneous waves. Ocean Eng. 172, 434–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2018.12.025
- Ding, J., Tian, C., Wu, Y.S., Li, Z., Lu, Z., Wu, X., 2016. Hydroelasticity of a VLFS in nonuniform incident waves. 12th Int. Conf. Hydrodyn. 18–23.
- Ding, J., Wu, Y.-S., Ni, X.-Y., Wang, Q.-B., Chen, Y.-C., Ye, Y.-L., Zhang, X.-Y., Ma, Y.-X., Yang, W.-N., 2021a. A direct coupling analysis method and its application to the Scientific Research and Demonstration Platform. J. Hydrodyn. 33, 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42241-021-0009-9
- Ding, J., Wu, Y., Xie, Z., Yang, W., Wang, S., Yu, J., Yu, T., 2021b. Overview: Research on hydroelastic responses of VLFS in complex environments. Mar. Struct. 78, 102978. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2021.102978
- Ding, R., Yan, D.-L., Zhang, H.-C., Lu, Y., Shi, Q.-J., Tian, C., Zhang, J.-L., Ni, X.-Y., Xu, D.-L., Wu, Y.-S., 2021. An application of network modeling method to scientific research and demonstration platform—Connector load analysis. J. Hydrodyn. 33, 33–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42241-021-0011-2
- DNVGL, 2017. DNVGL-RP-205 Environmental Conditions and Environmental Loads.
- Doyle, T., Golden, D., Hayes, D. and Carr, D., 2021. The use of non-linear mooring response for improved FOW lifecycle performance, in: Int. Conf. on Ocean Energy. Int. Conf. on Ocean Energy, Virtual event.
- Du, S., Ertekin, R.C., 1991. Dynamic response analysis of a flexibly joined, multi-module very large floating structure, in: Proceedings of Oceans '91. Proc. of Conf. of Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA, pp. 1286–1293.
- Equinor, 2017. World's First Floating Wind Farm Has Started Production [WWW Document]. [online] Available https://www.equinor.com/en/news/worlds-first-floating-wind-farm-started-production.html [Accessed 6 March 2021].
- Ertekin, R.C., Kim, J.W., 1999. Hydroelastic response of a floating mat-type structure in oblique, shallow-water waves. J. Sh. Res. 43, 241–254.
- Ertekin, R.C., Riggs, H.R., Che, X.L., Du, S.X., 1993. Efficient methods for hydroelastic analysis of very large floating structures. J. Sh. Res. 37, 58–76.
- Eto, H., Sekiguchi, R., Kashima, H., Ikoma, T., Aida, Y., Masuda, K., 2020. A fundamental study on motion characteristics of the large-scale floating coal transshipment station by elastic mooring lines, in: Proceedings of the International Conference on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering - OMAE. pp. 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1115/omae2020-18958
- Extreme Weather Causes Floating Wind Turbine Prototype To Sink [WWW Document], 2011. . North Am. Wind. URL https://nawindpower.com/extreme-weather-causes-floating-wind-turbine-prototype-to-sink (accessed 3.13.21).
- Fan, Y., Ginis, I., Hara, T., Wright, C.W., Walsh, E.J., 2009. Numerical simulations and observations of surface wave fields under an extreme tropical cyclone. J. Phys. Oceanogr. 39, 2097–2116.
- Fang, M.C., Kim, C.H., 1986. HYDRODYNAMICALLY COUPLED MOTIONS OF TWO SHIPS ADVANCING IN OBLIQUE WAVES. J. Sh. Res. 30.
- Fedele, F., 2012. Space–Time Extremes in Short-Crested Storm Seas. J. Phys. Oceanogr. 42, 1601–1615. https://doi.org/10.1175/JPO-D-11-0179.1
- Fedele, F., Arena, F., 2009. The Equivalent Pwer Storm Model for Long-Term Predictions of Extreme Wave Events, in: OMAE2009. pp. 1–11.
- Fedele, F., Arena, F., Tayfun, M.A., 2011. Space-time extremes in storm seas, in: Proc. of the 30th International Conference on Ocean, Offshore and Arctic Engineering OMAE2011. ASME, Rotterdam.

- Feng, A., 2014. Numerical simulation of nonlinear wave-body problem based ondesingularized Rankine source and mixed Euler-Lagrange method. University of Southampton.
- Feng, M. wei, Sun, Z. chen, Liang, S. xiu, Liu, B. jin, 2020. Hydroelastic Response of VLFS with An Attached Submerged Horizontal Solid/Porous Plate Under Wave Action. China Ocean Eng. 34, 451–462. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13344-020-0041-5
- Feng, X., Bai, W., 2017. Hydrodynamic analysis of marine multibody systems by a nonlinear coupled model. J. Fluids Struct. 70, 72–101.
- Ferreira, J.A., Guedes Soares, C., 2000. Modelling distributions of significant wave height. Coast. Eng. 40, 361–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-3839(00)00018-1
- Ferreira, J.A., Guedes Soares, C., 1998. An Application of the Peaks Over Threshold Method to Predict Extremes of Significant Wave Height. J. Offshore Mech. Arct. Eng. 120, 165–176. https://doi.org/10.1115/1.2829537
- Ferreira, M.D., Newman, J.N., 2009. Diffraction Effects and Ship Motions on an Artificial seabed, in: Proceedings of 24th International Workshop on Water Waves and Floating Bodies. Zelenogorsk, Russia.
- Filippas, E.S., Belibassakis, K.A., 2014. Hydrodynamic analysis of flapping-foil thrusters operating beneath the free surface and in waves. Eng. Anal. Bound. Elem. 41, 47–59.
- Føre, H.M., Thorvaldsen, T., 2021. Causal analysis of escape of Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout from Norwegian fish farms during 2010–2018. Aquaculture 532, 736002. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AQUACULTURE.2020.736002
- Forristal, G.Z., 2006. Maximum wave heights over an area and the air gap problem, in: Proc. of the ASME 2006 25th International Conference on Ocean, Offshore and Arctic Engineering OMAE2006. ASME, Hamburg, Germany.
- Foster, M., 2016. Floating platform keels over in Japan updated [WWW Document]. Wind. Mon. URL https://www.windpowermonthly.com/article/1394760/floating-platform-keelsjapan-updated#:~:text=JAPAN%3A A planned 5MW floating, according to local media reports (accessed 3.13.21).
- Fredriksen, A.G., Kristiansen, T., Faltinsen, O.M., 2015. Wave-induced response of a floating two-dimensional body with a moonpool. Philos. Trans. 373, 20140109.
- Fu, S., Moan, T., Chen, X., Cui, W., 2007. Hydroelastic analysis of flexible floating interconnected structures. Ocean Eng. 34, 1516–1531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2007.01.003
- Fu, S., Ou, S., Deng, S., Wei, W., Moan, T., Lie, H., 2017. A time-domain method for hydroelastic analysis of floating bridges in inhomogeneous waves, in: Proceedings of the International Conference on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering - OMAE. https://doi.org/10.1115/OMAE2017-62534
- Ganesan T, S., Sen, D., 2015. Direct time domain analysis of floating structures with linear and nonlinear mooring stiffness in a 3D numerical wave tank. Appl. Ocean Res. 51, 153–170.
- Gao, J., Guo, F., Li, X., Huang, X., Men, H., 2021. Risk assessment of offshore photovoltaic projects under probabilistic linguistic environment. Renew. Energy 163, 172–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RENENE.2020.08.110
- Gao, R.P., Tay, Z.Y., Wang, C.M., Koh, C.G., 2011. Hydroelastic response of very large floating structure with a flexible line connection. Ocean Eng. 38, 1957–1966. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2011.09.021
- Gerostathis, T.P., Belibassakis, K.A., Athanassoulis, G.A., 2016. 3D hydroelastic analysis of very large floating bodies over variable bathymetry regions. J. Ocean Eng. Mar. Energy 2, 159–175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40722-016-0046-6
- Goda, Y., 2000. Statistical Analysis of Extreme Waves, in: Random Seas and Design of Maritime Structures. World Scientific Publishing, pp. 377–425.
- Grasu, G., 2021. Risk assessment of floating offshore wind turbine. Newcastle University, UK, 87p.

- Hallowell, S.T., Arwade, S.R., Fontana, C.M., DeGroot, D.J., Aubeny, C.P., Diaz, B.D., Myers, A.T., Landon, M.E., 2018. System reliability of floating offshore wind farms with multiline anchors. Ocean Eng. 160, 94–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2018.04.046
- Haneda, K., Murai, M., Yamanoi, J., 2016. Experimental study on a 3-dimensional hydro-elastic deformation of "underwater platform" with multi-towers in waves.
- He, Z., Faltinsen, O.M., Fredheim, A., Kristiansen, T., 2018. The influence of fish on the mooring loads of a floating net cage. J. Fluids Struct. 76, 384–395. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfluidstructs.2017.10.016
- Hermawan, Y.A., Furukawa, Y., 2020. Coupled three-dimensional dynamics model of multicomponent mooring line for motion analysis of floating offshore structure. Ocean Eng. 200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2020.106928
- Hersbach, H., Bell, B., Berrisford, P., Hirahara, S., Horányi, A., Muñoz-Sabater, J., Nicolas, J., Peubey, C., Radu, R., Schepers, D., Simmons, A., Soci, C., Abdalla, S., Abellan, X., Balsamo, G., Bechtold, P., Biavati, G., Bidlot, J., Bonavita, M., Chiara, G., Dahlgren, P., Dee, D., Diamantakis, M., Dragani, R., Flemming, J., Forbes, R., Fuentes, M., Geer, A., Haimberger, L., Healy, S., Hogan, R.J., Hólm, E., Janisková, M., Keeley, S., Laloyaux, P., Lopez, P., Lupu, C., Radnoti, G., Rosnay, P., Rozum, I., Vamborg, F., Villaume, S., Thépaut, J., 2020. The ERA5 global reanalysis. Q. J. R. Meteorol. Soc. 146, 1999–2049. https://doi.org/10.1002/qj.3803
- Holmen, I.M., Utne, I.B., Haugen, S., 2021. Identification of safety indicators in aquaculture operations based on fish escape report data. Aquaculture 544, 737143. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AQUACULTURE.2021.737143
- Holmen, I.M., Utne, I.B., Haugen, S., 2018. Risk assessments in the Norwegian aquaculture industry: Status and improved practice. Aquac. Eng. 83, 65–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AQUAENG.2018.09.002
- Holmen, I.M., Utne, I.B., Haugen, S., Ratvik, I., 2017. The status of risk assessments in Norwegian fish farming, in: Safety and Reliability - Theory and Applications - Proceedings of the 27th European Safety and Reliability Conference, ESREL 2017. pp. 1457–1466. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315210469-183
- Hong, D.C., Hong, S.Y., 2007. Hydroelastic responses and drift forces of a very-long floating structure equipped with a pin-connected oscillating-water-column breakwater system. Ocean Eng. 34, 696–708.
- Hopstad, A.L., Pollicino, F., Midtsund, M., Argyriadis, K., Ebbesen, M., 2020. Overview of offshore wind standards and certification requirements in selected countries.
- Huang, S., Sheng, S., Gerthoffert, A., Cong, Y., Zhang, T., Wang, Z., 2019. Numerical design study of multipoint mooring systems for the floating wave energy converter in deep water with a sloping bottom. Renew. Energy 136, 558–571. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2019.01.027
- Hulme, A., 1982. The wave forces on a floating hemisphere undergoing forced periodic oscillations. J. Fluid Mech. 121, 443–463. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022112082001980
- IEA, 2011. Risk quantification and risk management in renewable energy projects risk, in: Risk Quantification and Risk Management in Renewable Energy Project Risk. p. 150.
- Iijima, K., Fujikubo, M., 2019. Analytical formula for collapse extent of VLFS under extreme vertical bending moment. J. Mar. Sci. Technol. 24, 372–381. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00773-018-0555-1
- Iijima, K., Fujikubo, M., 2018. Hydro-elastoplastic behaviour of VLFS under extreme vertical bending moment by segmented beam approach. Mar. Struct. 57, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2017.09.008
- Iijima, K., Fujikubo, M., 2015. Cumulative collapse of a ship hull girder under a series of extreme wave loads. J. Mar. Sci. Technol. 20, 530–541.
- Iijima, K., Fujikubo, M., 2012. Post-Ultimate Strength Behavior of Very Large Floating Structure Subjected to Extreme Wave Loads, in: Proceedings of the International Conference on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering - OMAE. pp. 109–116.

- Iijima, K., Kimura, K., Xu, W., Fujikubo, M., 2011. Hydroelasto-plasticity approach to predicting the post-ultimate strength behavior of a ship's hull girder in waves. J. Mar. Sci. Technol. 16, 379–389.
- Ikhennicheu, M., Danglade, B., Pascal, R., Arramounet, V., Trébaol, Q., Gorintin, F., 2021. Analytical method for loads determination on floating solar farms in three typical environments. Sol. Energy 219, 34–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.solener.2020.11.078
- Ikoma, T., Furuya, S., Aida, Y., Masuda, K., 2020. Characteristics of OWC Type WEC Dampers Installed on a Very Large Floating Structure.
- Ilyas, M., Meylan, M.H., Lamichhane, B., Bennetts, L.G., 2018. Time-domain and modal response of ice shelves to wave forcing using the finite element method. J. Fluids Struct. 80, 113–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfluidstructs.2018.03.010
- Jensen, Ø., Dempster, T., Thorstad, E.B., Uglem, I., Fredheim, A.O., 2010. Escapes of fishes from Norwegian sea-cage aquaculture: causes, consequences and prevention. Aquac. Environ. Interact. 1, 71–83.
- Jiang, C., el Moctar, O., Moura Paredes, G., Schellin, T.E., 2020. Validation of a dynamic mooring model coupled with a RANS solver. Mar. Struct. 72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2020.102783
- Jiang, L.F., Zhang, Z.X., Qi, Y.Q., 2010. Simulations of SWAN and WAVEWATCH III in northern south china sea, in: International Offshore and Polar Engineering Conference. Beijing, China, pp. 213–220.
- Jiang, S.C., Bai, W., Cong, P.W., Yan, B., 2019. Numerical investigation of wave forces on two side-by-side non-identical boxes in close proximity under wave actions. Mar. Struct. 63, 16–44.
- Jiao, L., Fu, S.-X., Wang, C., Cui, W., 2006. Comparison of Approaches for the Hydroelastic Response Analysis of Very Large Floating Structures. J. Sh. Mech. 10, 71–91. https://doi.org/10.3969/j.issn.1007-7294.2006.03.009
- Jin, C., Kim, M.-H., 2020. Tunnel-mooring-train coupled dynamic analysis for submerged floating tunnel under wave excitations. Appl. Ocean Res. 94, 102008. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apor.2019.102008
- Jin, J., Su, B., Dou, R., Luan, C., Li, L., Nygaard, I., Fonseca, N., Gao, Z., 2021. Numerical modelling of hydrodynamic responses of Ocean Farm 1 in waves and current and validation against model test measurements. Mar. Struct. 78, 103017. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARSTRUC.2021.103017
- Jonkman, S.N., Steenbergen, R.D.J.M., Morales-Nápoles, O., Vrouwenvelder, A.C.W.M., Vrijling, J.K., 2015. Probabilistic Design: Risk and Reliability Analysis in Civil Enigneering. TU Delft, Delft.
- Kagemoto, H., Yue, D.K.P., 1986. Interactions among multiple three-dimensional bodies in water waves: an exact algebraic method. J. Fluid Mech. 166, 189–209.
- Kalyanaraman, B., Meylan, M.H., Bennetts, L.G., Lamichhane, B.P., 2020. A coupled fluidelasticity model for the wave forcing of an ice-shelf. J. Fluids Struct. 97, 103074. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfluidstructs.2020.103074
- Kamarlouei, M., Gaspar, J.F., Calvario, M., Hallak, T.S., Mendes, M.J.G.C., Thiebaut, F., Guedes Soares, C., 2020. Experimental analysis of wave energy converters concentrically attached on a floating offshore platform. Renew. Energy 152, 1171–1185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2020.01.078
- Karperaki, A.E., Belibassakis, K.A., Papathanasiou, T.K., 2016. Time-domain, shallow-water hydroelastic analysis of VLFS elastically connected to the seabed. Mar. Struct. 48, 33–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2016.04.002
- Karpouzoglou, T., Vlaswinkel, B., Van Der Molen, J., 2020. Effects of large-scale floating (solar photovoltaic) platforms on hydrodynamics and primary production in a coastal sea from a water column model. Ocean Sci. 16, 195–208. https://doi.org/10.5194/os-16-195-2020
- Khabakhpasheva, T.I., Korobkin, A.A., 2002. Hydroelastic behaviour of compound floating plate in waves. J. Eng. Math. 44, 21–40.

- Kim, C.H., 1972. THE HYDRODYNAMIC INTERACTION BETWEEN TWO CYLINDRICAL BODIES FLOATING IN BEAM SEAS. Loads.
- Kim, D., 1999. Linear frequency domain hydroelastic analysis for McDermott's mobile offshore base using WAMIT, in: Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Very Large Floating Structures, VLFS'99, Volume 1, Edited by R. Cengiz Ertekin, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA. Paper: P1999-5 Proceedings.
- Kim, E., Panchi, N., 2021. Agree-disagree: comparing traffic limitations in the Kara Sea, in: ASME 2021 40th International Conference on Ocean, Offshore and Arctic Engineering. ASME, pp. OMAE2021-62068.
- Kim, T., Kim, Y., 2013. Numerical analysis on floating-body motion responses in arbitrary bathymetry. Ocean Eng. 62, 123–139.
- Kimura, K., Iijima, K., Wada, R., Xu, W., Fujikubo, M., 2010. Dynamic collapse behavior of ship's hull girder in waves. Proc. amec PAAMES2010.
- Knysh, A., Coyle, J., Cew, D., Drach, A., Swift, M.R., Tsukrov, I., 2021. Floating protective barriers: Evaluation of seaworthiness through physical testing, numerical simulations and field deployment. Ocean Eng. 108707.
- Kodan, N., 1984. The Motions of Adjacent Floating Structures in Oblique Waves. J. Energy Resour. Technol. 106, 199–205.
- Koh, H.S., Lim, Y.B., 2015. Floating Performance Stage at the Marina Bay, Singapore, in: Wang, C.M., Wang, B.T. (Eds.), Large Floating Structures: Technological Advances. Springer Singapore, Singapore, pp. 37–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-287-137-4\_2
- Kolios, A., Read, G., Ioannou, A., 2016. Application of multi-criteria decision-making to risk prioritisation in tidal energy developments. Int. J. Sustain. Energy 35, 59–74. https://doi.org/10.1080/14786451.2014.880438
- Koo, B.J., Kim, M.H., 2005. Hydrodynamic interactions and relative motions of two floating platforms with mooring lines in side-by-side offloading operation. Appl. Ocean Res. 27, 292–310.
- Kristiansen, T., Borvik, P., 2018. Investigation of an Air-Cushion Supported Solar Island. ASME 2018 37th Int. Conf. Ocean. Offshore Arct. Eng. https://doi.org/10.1115/OMAE2018-78533
- Kristiansen, T., Faltinsen, O.M., 2012. Gap resonance analyzed by a new domain-decomposition method combining potential and viscous flow DRAFT. Appl. Ocean Res. 34, 198–208.
- Kristiansen, T., Faltinsen, O.M., 2010. A two-dimensional numerical and experimental study of resonant coupled ship and piston-mode motion. Appl. Ocean Res. 32, 158–176.
- Krogstad, H.E., Liu, J., Socquet-Juglard, H., Dysthe, K.B., Trulsen, K., 2004. Spatial Extreme Value Analysis of Nonlinear Simulations of Random Surface Waves, in: 23rd International Conference on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering, Volume 2. ASMEDC, pp. 285–295. https://doi.org/10.1115/OMAE2004-51336
- Kyoung, J.H., Hong, S.Y., Kim, B.W., 2006. FEM for time domain analysis of hydroelastic response of VLFS with fully nonlinear free-surface conditions. Int. J. Offshore Polar Eng. 16, 168–174.
- Kyoung, J.H., Hong, S.Y., Kim, B.W., Cho, S.K., 2005. Hydroelastic response of a very large floating structure over a variable bottom topography. Ocean Eng. 32, 2040–2052.
- Laface, V., Arena, F., 2016. A new equivalent exponential storm model for long-term statistics of ocean waves. Coast. Eng. 116, 133–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coastaleng.2016.06.011
- Laface, V., Bitner-Gregersen, E.M., Arena, F., Romolo, A., 2019. A Parameterization of DNV GL Storm Profile for Long-Term Analysis of Ocean Storms: Trapezoidal Storm Model, in: Volume 3: Structures, Safety, and Reliability. American Society of Mechanical Engineers. https://doi.org/10.1115/OMAE2019-95880
- Laface, V., Romolo, A., Bitner-Gregersen, E.M., 2020. Space-Time Statistics via Trapezoidal Storm Model for Offshore Installations, in: ASME 2020 39th International Conference on

Ocean, Offshore and Arctic Engineering. ASME. https://doi.org/10.1115/OMAE2020-18822

- Lamas-Pardo, M., Iglesias, G., Carral, L., 2015. A review of Very Large Floating Structures (VLFS) for coastal and offshore uses. Ocean Eng. 109, 677–690. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2015.09.012
- Langley, R., 1984. Random dynamic analysis of multi-body offshore structures. Ocean Eng.
- Lee, C.-H., Zhu, X., 2018. Application of hyper-singular integral equations for a simplified model of viscous dissipation, in: Proceedings of the International Offshore and Polar Engineering Conference. pp. 345–350.
- Leimeister, M., Kolios, A., 2018. A review of reliability-based methods for risk analysis and their application in the offshore wind industry. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 91, 1065–1076. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2018.04.004
- Li, Y., He, M., Ren, B., Wang, G., 2017. Numerical simulation of wave interaction with a hinged multi-module floating structure, in: Proceedings of the International Conference on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering - OMAE. https://doi.org/10.1115/OMAE2017-61079
- Liang, M., Wang, X., Xu, S., Ding, A., 2019. A shallow water mooring system design methodology combining NSGA-II with the vessel-mooring coupled model. Ocean Eng. 190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2019.106417
- Linton, C.M., 1999. Rapidly Convergent Representations for Green\"s Functions for Laplace\"s Equation. Proc. Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 455, 1767–1797.
- Liu, X., Sakai, S., 2002. Time domain analysis on the dynamic response of a flexible floating structure to waves. J. Eng. Mech. 128, 48–56.
- Liu, X., Sakai, S., 1997. Be-Fe combined method for analysis on the dynamic response of largescale floating structure to random waves, in: Proceedings of the International Conference on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering - OMAE. pp. 203–209.
- Liu, X., Wang, X., Xu, S., Li, X., Yang, L.B.T.-P. of the T. (2019) I.O. and P.E.C., 2019. Frequency-domain Hydroelastic Analysis of a Two-dimensional Floating Structure in Variable Bathymetry by a Hybrid Technique.
- Liu, X.D., Sakai, S., Konno, H., 2002. Propagation characteristics of solitary waves under flexible floating structures. J Soc Nav Arch. Jpn 192, 339–345.
- Liu, Y., Cong, P., Gou, Y., Yoshida, S., Kashiwagi, M., 2020. Enhanced Endo's approach for evaluating free-surface Green's function with application to wave-structure interactions. Ocean Eng. 207.
- Liu, Y., Iwashita, H., Hu, C., 2015. A calculation method for finite depth Free-Surface green function. Int. J. Nav. Archit. Ocean Eng. 7, 375–389. https://doi.org/10.1515/ijnaoe-2015-0026
- Lu, L., Cheng, L., Teng, B., Zhao, M., 2010. Numerical investigation of fluid resonance in two narrow gaps of three identical rectangular structures. Appl. Ocean Res. 32, 177–190.
- Lu, L., Teng, B., Sun, L., Chen, B., 2011. Modelling of multi-bodies in close proximity under water waves - Fluid forces on floating bodies. Ocean Eng. 38, 1403–1416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2011.06.008
- Lu, Y., Temarel, P., Zhou, Y., Tian, C., Wu, Y.S., 2018. Hydroelasticity of a Barge with Varying Bathymetry. Chuan Bo LI Xue/journal Sh. Mech. 22, 1143–1154.
- Ma, K.T., Luo, Y., Kwan, T., Wu, Y., 2019. Mooring System Engineering for Offshore Structures, Mooring System Engineering for Offshore Structures. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2018-0-02217-3
- Mackay, E., Johanning, L., 2018. A generalised equivalent storm model for long-term statistics of ocean waves. Coast. Eng. 140, 411–428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coastaleng.2018.06.001
- Madsen, P.A., Murray, R., Sørensen, O.R., 1991. A new form of the Boussinesq equations with improved linear dispersion characteristics. Coast. Eng. 15, 371–388.

- Martins, K., Bonneton, P., Mouragues, A., Castelle, B., 2020. Non-hydrostatic, Non-linear Processes in the Surf Zone. J. Geophys. Res. Ocean. 125, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019JC015521
- McTiernan, K.L., Sharman, K.T., 2020. Review of Hybrid Offshore Wind and Wave Energy Systems. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 1452, 012016. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1452/1/012016
- Memmola, F., Coluccelli, A., Russo, A., Warner, J.C., Brocchini, M., 2020. Wave-resolving shoreline boundary conditions for wave-averaged coastal models. Ocean Model. 153, 101661. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocemod.2020.101661
- Michailides, C., Loukogeorgaki, E., Angelides, D.C., 2013. Response analysis and optimum configuration of a modular floating structure with flexible connectors. Appl. Ocean Res. 43, 112–130.
- Mirafzali, F., Tavakoli, A., Mollazadeh, M., 2015. Hydroelastic analysis of fully nonlinear water waves with floating elastic plate via multiple knot B-splines. Appl. Ocean Res. 51, 171–180.
- Moan, T., Eidem, M.E., 2020. Floating Bridges and Submerged Tunnels in Norway—The History and Future Outlook, in: Lecture Notes in Civil Engineering. pp. 81–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8743-2\_5
- Moe-Føre, H., Lader, P., F., Lien, E., Hopperstad, O., S., 2016. Structural response of high solidity net cage models in uniform flow. J. Fluids Struct. 65, 180–195.
- Mohapatra, S.C., Guedes Soares, C., 2016. Effect of submerged horizontal flexible membrane on a moored floating elastic plate. Proc. 3rd Int. Conf. Marit. Technol. Eng. MARTECH 2016 2, 1181–1190. https://doi.org/10.1201/b21890-159
- Mohapatra, S.C., Sahoo, T., 2014. Oblique wave diffraction by a flexible floating structure in the presence of a submerged flexible structure. Geophys. Astrophys. Fluid Dyn. 108, 615–638. https://doi.org/10.1080/03091929.2014.937806
- Molin, B., 2001. On the piston and sloshing modes in moonpools. J. Fluid Mech. 430, 27–50.
- Molin, B., REMY, F., Camhi, A., Ledoux, A., 2009. Experimental and numerical study of the gap resonances in-between two rectangular barges.
- Molin, B., Zhang, X., Huang, H., Remy, F., 2018. On natural modes in moonpools and gaps in finite depth. J. Fluid Mech. 840, 530–554.
- Mollazadeh, M., Khanjani, M.J., Tavakoli, A., 2011. Applicability of the method of fundamental solutions to interaction of fully nonlinear water waves with a semi-infinite floating ice plate. Cold Reg. Sci. Technol. 69, 52–58.
- Moshe, Israeli, and, Steven, A., Orszag, 1981. Approximation of radiation boundary conditions. J. Comput. Phys.
- Murai, M., Inoue, Y., Nakamura, T., 2003. The Prediction Method of Hydroelastic Response of VLFS with Sea Bottom Topographical Effects.
- Murai, M., Kagemoto, H., Fujino, M., 1999. On the hydroelastic responses of a very large floating structure in waves. J. Mar. Sci. Technol. 4, 123–153.
- Murai, M., Li, Q., Funada, J., 2020. Study on power generation of single Point Absorber Wave Energy Converters (PA-WECs) and arrays of PA-WECs. Renew. Energy 164.
- Neelamani, S., 2009. Influence of threshold value on peak over threshold method on the predicted extreme significant wave heights in Kuwaiti territorial waters. J. Coast. Res. I, 564–568.
- Newman, J., 2001. Wave Effects on Multiple Bodies. Hydrodyn. Sh. Ocean Eng. 3, 3–26.
- Newman, J.N., 2003. Application of generalized modes for the simulation of free surface patches in multi body hydrodynamics. Rep. Fourth Annu. WAMIT Consort. Meet. 33–69.
- Newman, J.N., 1985. Algorithms for the free-surface Green function. J.eng.maths 19, 57–67.
- Nguyen, H. P., Dai, J., Wang, C.M., Ang, K.K., Luong, V.H., 2018. Reducing hydroelastic responses of pontoon-type VLFS using vertical elastic mooring lines. Mar. Struct. 59, 251–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2018.02.005

- Nguyen, H.P., Dai, J., Wang, C.M., Ang, K.K., Luong, V.H., 2018. Reducing hydroelastic responses of pontoon-type VLFS using vertical elastic mooring lines. Mar. Struct. 59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2018.02.005
- Nguyen, H.P., Wang, C.M., Flocard, F., Pedroso, D.M., 2019. Extracting energy while reducing hydroelastic responses of VLFS using a modular raft wec-type attachment. Appl. Ocean Res. 84, 302–316.
- Ni, X., Cheng, X., Wu, B., Wang, X., 2018. Coupled analysis between mooring system and VLFS with an effect of elastic deflection of floater. Ocean Eng. 165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2018.07.044
- Nilsen, T., Gudmestad, O.T., Dalane, J.I., Rettedal, W.K., Aven, T., 1998. Utilisation of principles from structural reliability in quantitative risk analysis: Example from an offshore transport problem. Reliab. Eng. Syst. Saf. 61, 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0951-8320(97)00068-9
- Ning, D., Zhu, Y., Zhang, C., Zhao, M., 2018. Experimental and numerical study on wave response at the gap between two barges of different draughts. Appl. Ocean Res. 77, 14–25.
- Nishigochi, R., Eto, H., Iizuka, K., Ikoma, T., 2020. A Fundamental Study on Plastic Strain Accompanying Deformation in Large-Scale Floating Coal Transshipment Station, in: Proceedings of the International Conference on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering - OMAE.
- O'Shea, T.O., Jones, R., Markham, A., Norrel, E., Scott, J., Theurekauf, S., Waters, T., 2019. Towards a Blue Revolution: Catalyzing Private Investment in Sustainable Aquaculture Production Systems. Arlington, Virginia.
- O, M., Martone, R., Hannah, L., Greig, L., Boutillier, J., Patton, S., 2015. An Ecological Risk Assessment Framework (ERAF) for Ecosystem-based Oceans Management in the Pacific Region.
- Oceans of Energy, 2020. Oceans of Energy [WWW Document]. URL https://oceansofenergy.blue/north-sea-1-offshore-solar-project/
- Ohkusu, M., 1976. Ship Motions in Vicinity of a Structure. Boss76 Norw.
- Ohmatsu, S., 2005. Overview: Research on wave loading and responses of VLFS. Mar. Struct. 18, 149–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2005.07.004
- Ohmatsu, S., 2001. Numerical calculation method for the hydroelastic response of a pontoontype very large floating structure close to a breakwater. J. Mar. Sci. Technol. 5, 147–160.
- Olsen, T.O., 2020. Fish Farming in Floating Structures, in: Wang, C.M., Lim, S.H., Tay, Z.Y. (Eds.), Lecture Notes in Civil Engineering. Springer Singapore, pp. 191–208. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8743-2\_10
- Oortmerssen, G. Van, 1976. The motions of a ship in swallow water. Ocean Eng. 3, 221–255.
- Otto, W., Waals, O., Bunnik, T., Ceneray, C., 2020. Wave Induced Motions of a Floating Mega Island. Lect. Notes Civ. Eng. 41, 173–189. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8743-2\_9
- Palo, P., 2005. Mobile offshore base: Hydrodynamic advancements and remaining challenges. Mar. Struct. 18, 133–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2005.07.007
- Papathanasiou, T.K., Belibassakis, K.A., 2019. A nonconforming hydroelastic triangle for ice shelf modal analysis. J. Fluids Struct. 91, 102741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfluidstructs.2019.102741
- Papathanasiou, T.K., Karperaki, A.E., Belibassakis, K.A., 2019. On the resonant hydroelastic behaviour of ice shelves. Ocean Model. 133, 11–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocemod.2018.10.008
- Pelagic Power as W2Power [WWW Document], n.d.
- Peña, E., Ferreras, J., Sanchez-Tembleque, F., 2011. Experimental study on wave transmission coefficient, mooring lines and module connector forces with different designs of floating breakwaters. Ocean Eng. 38, 1150–1160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2011.05.005
- Pérez-Collazo, C., Greaves, D., Iglesias, G., 2015. A review of combined wave and offshore wind energy. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 42, 141–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.09.032

- Perić, M., Swan, C., 2015. An experimental study of the wave excitation in the gap between two closely spaced bodies, with implications for LNG offloading. Appl. Ocean Res. 51, 320– 330.
- Pessoa, J., Fonseca, N., Guedes Soares, C., 2015. Numerical study of the coupled motion responses in waves of side-by-side LNG floating systems. Appl. Ocean Res. 51, 350–366.
- Pessoa, J., Fonseca, N., Soares, C.G., 2016. Side-by-side FLNG and shuttle tanker linear and second order low frequency wave induced dynamics. Ocean Eng. 111, 234–253.
- Pham, D.C., Wang, C.M., Utsunomiya, T., 2008. Hydroelastic analysis of pontoon-type circular VLFS with an attached submerged plate. Appl. Ocean Res. 30, 287–296.
- Phillips, K.P., 2015. Perceptions of Environmental Risks to Fertility. Handb. Fertil. Nutr. Diet, Lifestyle Reprod. Heal. 3–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800872-0.00001-9
- Piterbarg, V.I., 1995. Asymptotic Methods in the Theory of Gaussian Processes and Fields. Transl. Math. Monogr. 148.
- Pretlove, B., Blasiak, R., 2018. Mapping Ocean Governance and Regulation Working paper for consultation for UN Global Compact Action Platform for Sustainable Ocean Business.
- Price, W.G., Wu, Y., 1985. HYDROELASTICITY OF MARINE STRUCTURES, in: Int Union of Theoretical & Applied Mechanics, Goteborg, Swed. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-87707-9.50026-9
- Proskovics, R., Hutton, G., 2016. LIFES50+ Deliverable, Project 640741, D6.1 Risk Management for Deep Water Substructures v4.
- Proskovics, R., Hutton, G., Torr, R., Scheu, M.N., 2016. Methodology for Risk Assessment of Substructures for Floating Wind Turbines. Energy Procedia 94, 45–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2016.09.189
- Rademaekers, K., Widerberg, O., Svatikova, K., Van der Veen, R., Panella, E., 2015. Technology options for deep-seabed exploitation: Tackling economic, environmental and societal challenges, European Parliamentary Research Service, Report PE 527.401, IP/G/STOA/FWC/2013-001/Lot3/C4. European Union, Brussels. https://doi.org/10.2861/464059
- Randall-Smith, B., n.d. French Floater Confirms Updated Project Schedule. 4C Offshore [WWW Document]. [online] Available https://www.4coffshore.com/news/french-floater-confirms-updated-project-schedule-

nid19079.html#~text=Commissioning%20of%20the%20Groix%20%26%20Belle,for%20 floating%20demos%20in%202016. [Accessed 6 March 2021].

- Ranjbaran, P., Yousefi, H., Gharehpetian, G.B., Astaraei, F.R., 2019. A review on floating photovoltaic (FPV) power generation units. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 110, 332–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2019.05.015
- Rausand, M., Haugen, S., 2020. Risk Assessment Theory, Methods, and Applications, 2nd Ed. ed. Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119377351
- Rausand, M., Hoyland, A., 2004. System Reliability Theory Models, Statistical Methods, and Applications, 2nd Ed. ed. Wiley, Hoboken, New Jersey.
- Reistad, M., Breivik, Ø., Haakenstad, H., Aarnes, O.J., Furevik, B.R., Bidlot, J.-R., 2011. A highresolution hindcast of wind and waves for the North Sea, the Norwegian Sea, and the Barents Sea. J. Geophys. Res. 116, C05019. https://doi.org/10.1029/2010JC006402
- Richard, C., 2020. WindFloat Atlantic fully operational. Windpower [WWW Document]. [online] Available https://www.windpowermonthly.com/article/1690362/windfloatatlantic-fully-operational [Accessed 6 March 2021].
- Riggs, H.R., Ertekin, R.C., Mills, T.R.J., 1999. Impact of stiffness on the response of a multimodule mobile offshore base. Int. J. Offshore Polar Eng. 9, 126–133.
- Riggs, H.R., Suzuki, H., Ertekin, R.C., Kim, J.W., Iijima, K., 2008. Comparison of hydroelastic computer codes based on the ISSC VLFS benchmark. Ocean Eng. 35, 589–597.
- Riyansyah, M., Wang, C.M., Choo, Y.S., 2010. Connection design for two-floating beam system for minimum hydroelastic response. Mar. Struct. 23, 67–87. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2010.01.001

- Romolo, A., Arena, F., 2015. On Adler space-time extremes during ocean storms. J. Geophys. Res. Ocean. 120, 3022–3042. https://doi.org/10.1002/2015JC010749
- Russell, T., 2020. Hexicon Gets Patent Approval for Floating Foundations [WWW Document]. 4C Offshore, [online] Available https://www.4coffshore.com/news/hexicon-gets-patentapproval-for-floating-foundations-nid19247.html [Accessed 6 March 2021].
- Saitec floating turbine capsizes off Spanish coast [WWW Document], 2020. . reNEWS.BIZ. URL https://renews.biz/64225/saitec-floating-turbine-capsizes-off-spanish-coast/ (accessed 3.13.21).
- Samayam, S., Laface, V., Annamalaisamy, S.S., Arena, F., Vallam, S., Gavrilovich, P.V., 2017. Assessment of reliability of extreme wave height prediction models. Nat. Hazards Earth Syst. Sci. 17, 409–421. https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-17-409-2017
- Sarmiento, J., Iturrioz, A., Ayllon, V., Guanche, R., Losada, I.J., 2019. Experimental modelling of a multi-use floating platform for wave and wind energy harvesting. Ocean Eng. 173, 761–773.
- Schreier, S., Jacobi, G., 2020a. Measuring Hydroelastic Deformation of Very Flexible Floating Structures, in: Piatek, L., de Graaf, R.E., Lim, S.H., Wang, C.W. (Eds.), WCFS2020 -Proceedings of the Second World Conference on Floating Solutions. Springer, Rotterdam.
- Schreier, S., Jacobi, G., 2020b. Experimental investigation of wave interaction with a thin floating sheet. Proc. Int. Offshore Polar Eng. Conf. 2020-Octob, 2479–2488.
- Scott, D.C.B., 2000. Offshore cage systems: A practical overview. Options Méditerranéennes Série B Etudes Rech.
- Sergienko, O. V, 2017. Behavior of flexural gravity waves on ice shelves: Application to the Ross Ice Shelf. J. Geophys. Res. Ocean. 122, 6147–6164. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017JC012947
- Seto, H., Ohta, M., Ochi, M., Kawakado, S., 2005. Integrated hydrodynamic-structural analysis of very large floating structures (VLFS). Mar. Struct. 18, 181–200.
- Shen, Y., Greco, M., Faltinsen, O.M., Nygaard, I., 2018. Numerical and experimental investigations on mooring loads of a marine fish farm in waves and current. J. Fluids Struct. 79, 115–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFLUIDSTRUCTS.2018.02.004
- Shimada, K., Miyajima, S., 2002. Comparison of Mooring Simulations and Measurement for Mega-Float Phase-II Model, in: Proceedings of the International Offshore and Polar Engineering Conference. pp. 261–266.
- Shin, H., Cho, S., Jung, K., 2014. Model test of an inverted conical cylinder floating offshore wind turbine moored by a spring-tensioned-leg. Int. J. Nav. Archit. Ocean Eng. 6, 1–13. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2478/IJNAOE-2013-0159
- Shin, H., Dam, P.T., Jung, K.J., Song, J., Rim, C., Chung, T., 2013. Model test of new floating offshore wind turbine platforms. Int. J. Nav. Archit. Ocean Eng. 5, 199–209. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2478/IJNAOE-2013-0127
- SKWID Sinks Off Japan [WWW Document], 2014. Offshore Wind BIZ. URL www.offshorewind.biz/2014/12/18/skwid-sinks-off-japan/ (accessed 3.14.21).
- Song, H., Tao, L., Cui, W., Liu, Y.B.T.-A.I.C. on O.M.& A.E., 2005. Hydroelastic Response of VLFS on Uneven Sea Bottom.
- Sturova, I. V, 2008. Effect of bottom topography on the unsteady behaviour of an elastic plate floating on shallow water. J. Appl. Math. Mech. 72, 417–426.
- Su, B., Tsarau, A., Endresen, P.C., Kristiansen, D., Lader, P.F., 2021. Numerical study of closed rigid fish cages in waves and comparison with experimental data. Ocean Eng. 233, 109210. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2021.109210
- Sulaiman, O.O., Magee, A., Bahrain, Z., Kader, A.S.A., Maimun, A., Pauzi, A.G., Wan Nick, W.B., Othman, K., 2013a. Mooring analysis for very large offshore aquaculture ocean plantation floating structure. Ocean Coast. Manag. 80, 80–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2013.02.010
- Sulaiman, O.O., Sakinah, N., Amagee, A., Bahrain, Z., Kader, A.S.A., Adi, M., Othman, K., Ahmad, M.F., 2013b. Qualitative Risk Analysis Study of Offshore Aquaculture Ocean Plantation System. Glob. J. Sci. Front. Res. Environ. Earth Sci. 13.

- Sun, H., Cui, W., Liu, Y., Liao, S., 2003. Hydroelastic Response Analysis of Mat-Like VLFS over A Plane Slope in Head Seas. China Ocean Eng. 315–326.
- Sun, L., Taylor, R.E., Choo, Y.S., 2011. Responses of interconnected floating bodies. IES J. Part A Civ. Struct. Eng. 4, 143–156. https://doi.org/10.1080/19373260.2011.577933
- Sun, Y., Lu, D., Xu, J., Zhang, X., 2018. A study of hydroelastic behavior of hinged VLFS. Int. J. Nav. Archit. Ocean Eng. 10, 170–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnaoe.2017.05.002
- Suzuki, H., 2005. Overview of Megafloat: Concept, design criteria, analysis, and design. Mar. Struct. 18, 111–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2005.07.006
- Suzuki, H., Bhattacharya, B., Fujikubo, M., Hudson, D.A., Riggs, H.R., Seto, H., Shin, H., Shugar, T.A., Yasuzawa, Y., Zong, Z., 2006. Very Large Floating Structures, in: Proc. ISSC2006. pp. 391–442.
- Tang, H.-J., Yeh, P.-H., Huang, C.-C., Yang, R.-Y., 2020. Numerical study of the mooring system failure of aquaculture net cages under irregular waves and current. Ocean Eng. 216, 108110. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2020.108110
- Tay, Z.Y., Wang, C.M., Utsunomiya, T., 2009. Hydroelastic responses and interactions of floating fuel storage modules placed side-by-side with floating breakwaters. Mar. Struct. 22, 633–658. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marstruc.2008.11.002
- Tayfun, M.A., Alkhalidi, M.A., 2020. Distribution of sea-surface elevations in intermediate and<br/>shallow water depths. Coast. Eng. 157, 103651.<br/>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coastaleng.2020.103651
- The blue future: Horizon 2020 project Space@Sea, 2018.
- Thorvaldsen, T., Holmen, I.M., Moe, H.K., 2015. The escape of fish from Norwegian fish farms: Causes, risks and the influence of organisational aspects. Mar. Policy 55, 33–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOL.2015.01.008
- Thorvaldsen, T., Kongsvik, T., Holmen, I.M., Størkersen, K., Salomonsen, C., Sandsund, M., Bjelland, H. V., 2020. Occupational health, safety and work environments in Norwegian fish farming - employee perspective. Aquaculture 524.
- Tian, C., Ni, X., Ding, J., Yang, P., Wu, Y., 2014. Theoretical Study on Hydroelastic Responses of Very Large Floating Structures Near Islands and Reefs.
- Trapani, K., Millar, D., 2016. Hydrodynamic Overview Of Flexible Floating Thin Film PV Arrays, in: 3rd Offshore Energy and Storage Symposium. University of Malta, Valetta, Malta.
- Trapani, K., Millar, D.L., 2013. Proposing offshore photovoltaic (PV) technology to the energy mix of the Maltese islands. Energy Convers. Manag. 67, 18–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2012.10.022
- Trapani, K., Millar, D.L., Smith, H.C.M., 2013. Novel offshore application of photovoltaics in comparison to conventional marine renewable energy technologies. Renew. Energy 50, 879–888. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2012.08.043
- Trapani, K., Redón Santafé, M., 2015. A review of floating photovoltaic installations: 2007-2013. Prog. Photovoltaics Res. Appl. 23, 524–532. https://doi.org/10.1002/pip.2466
- Trubat, P., Molins, C., Gironella, X., 2020. Wave hydrodynamic forces over mooring lines on floating offshore wind turbines. Ocean Eng. 195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2019.106730
- Trulsen, K., Raustol, A., Jorde, S., Rye, L.B., 2020. Extreme wave statistics of long-crested irregular waves over a shoal. J. Fluid Mech. 882, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1017/jfm.2019.861
- Ueda, S., 2015. Floating Oil Storage Base, in: Wang, C.M., Wang, B.T. (Eds.), Large Floating Structures: Technological Advances. Springer Singapore, Singapore, pp. 91–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-287-137-4\_4
- Utsunomiya, T., Noguchi, T., Kusaka, T., Watanabe, E., Yamamoto, S., Ogamo, T., 2008. Hydroelastic analysis of a hybrid-type VLFS in water of variable depth, in: Proceedings of the International Conference on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering - OMAE. pp. 733–742. https://doi.org/10.1115/OMAE2008-57180

- Utsunomiya, T., Watanabe, E., Nishimura, N., 2001a. Fast multipole algorithm for wave diffraction/radiation problems and its application to VLFS in variable water depth and topography, in: Proceedings of the International Conference on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering OMAE. pp. 321–327.
- Utsunomiya, T., Watanbe, E., Nakamura, N., 2001b. Analysis of drift force on VLFS by the near-field approach 1, 217–221.
- van 't Wout, B., 2021. Routekaart Zon Op Water.
- van Hoof, L., van den Burg, S.W.K., Banach, J.L., Röckmann, C., Goossen, M., 2020. Can multiuse of the sea be safe? A framework for risk assessment of multi-use at sea. Ocean Coast. Manag. 184, 105030. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.OCECOAMAN.2019.105030
- van Kessel, J.L.F., 2010. Aircushion Supported Mega-Floaters. Delft University of Technology.
- Verhelst, H.M., Besten, H.J. den, Möller, M., Mantzaflaris, A., Kaminski, M.L., 2020a. Stretch-Based Hyperelastic Material Formulations for Isogeometric Kirchhoff-Love Shells.
- Verhelst, H.M., Möller, M., Besten, J.H. den, Kaminski, M.L., Vermolen, F.J., 2020b. Equilibrium Path Analysis Including Bifurcations with a Fully-Integrated Arc-Length Method Avoiding A Priori Perturbations, in: Proceedings of ENUMATH2019 Conference. Egmond aan Zee, The Netherlands.
- Verhelst, H.M., Möller, M., Vermolen, F.J., Besten, J.H. den, Kaminski, M.L., 2019. Modelling Wrinkling Behaviour of Thin Sheets Using Isogeometric Analysis and Post-Buckling Arc-Length Methods. Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Eng.
- Waals, O.J., Bunnik, T.H.J., Otto, W.J., 2018. Model tests and numerical analysis for a floating mega island. Proc. Int. Conf. Offshore Mech. Arct. Eng. - OMAE 1, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1115/OMAE2018-78589
- Wan, L., Zhang, C., Magee, A.R., Jin, J., Han, M., Ang, K.K., Hellan, Ø., 2018. An innovative mooring system for floating storage tanks and stochastic dynamic response analysis. Ocean Eng. 170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2018.10.028
- Wang, C.M., Tay, Z.Y., 2011. Hydroelastic Analysis and Response of Pontoon-Type Very Large Floating Structures, in: Fluid Structure Interaction II. Springer, pp. 103–130. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-14206-2\_5
- Wang, D., Riggs, H.R., Ertekin, R.C., 1991. Three-Dimensional Hydroelastic Response Of A Very Large Floating Structure. Int. J. Offshore Polar Eng. 1, 307–316.
- Wang, G., 2021. Challenges and Opportunities in Floating Wind Sub-structures (in Chinese).
- Wang, K., Er, G.-K., Iu, V.P., 2018. Nonlinear dynamical analysis of moored floating structures. Int. J. Non. Linear. Mech. 98, 189–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnonlinmec.2017.10.025
- Wang, Y., Xu, S., Wang, L., Wang, X., 2019. Motion responses of a catenary-taut-tendon hybrid moored single module of a semisubmersible-type VLFS over uneven seabed. J. Mar. Sci. Technol. 24, 780–798. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00773-018-0587-6
- Wang, Z.J., Li, R.P., Shu, Z., 2001. A study on hydroelastic response of box-type very large floating structures. China Ocean Eng. 15, 345–354.
- Watanabe, E., Maruyama, T., Ueda, S., Tanaka, H., 2015. Yumemai Floating Swing Arch Bridge of Osaka, Japan, in: Wang, C.M., Wang, B.T. (Eds.), Large Floating Structures: Technological Advances. Springer Singapore, Singapore, pp. 61–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-287-137-4\_3
- Wei, W., Fu, S., Moan, T., Lu, Z., Deng, S., 2017. A discrete-modules-based frequency domain hydroelasticity method for floating structures in inhomogeneous sea conditions. J. Fluids Struct. 74, 321–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfluidstructs.2017.06.002
- Wei, W., Fu, S., Moan, T., Song, C., Ren, T., 2018. A time-domain method for hydroelasticity of very large floating structures in inhomogeneous sea conditions. Mar. Struct. 57, 180–192.
- Weller, S.D., Hardwick, J., Gomez, S., Heath, J., Jensen, R., Mclean, N., Johanning, L., 2018. Verification of a rapid mooring and foundation design tool. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. Part M J. Eng. Marit. Environ. 232. https://doi.org/10.1177/1475090217721064
- Whitman, R. V, 1984. The Seventeenth Terzaghi Lecture: PROGRESS IN ROCKFILL DAMS. J. Geotech. Engrg 110, 143–188.

Wind Europe, 2017. Floating Offshore Wind Vision Statement, Wind Europe.

- Wu, B.J., Zheng, Y.H., You, Y.G., Sun, X.Y., Chen, Y., 2004. On diffraction and radiation problem for a cylinder over a caisson in water of finite depth. Int. J. Eng. Sci. 42, 1193– 1213.
- Wu, C., 1996. Wave-induced connector loads and connector design considerations for the mobile offshore base, in: Proceedings of International Workshop on Very Large Floating Structures, Nov 25-28, 1996, SRI, Hayama, Japan.
- Wu, Y.-S., Ding, J., Gu, X.-K., Ji, C.-Y., Zheng, X.-B., Zhou, G.-P., Xu, D.-L., Ma, L., 2021. The progress in the verification of key technologies for floating structures near islands and reefs. J. Hydrodyn. 33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42241-021-0008-x
- Wu, Y.-S., Zou, M.-S., Tian, C., Sima, C., Qi, L.-B., Ding, J., Li, Z.-W., Lu, Y., 2016. Theory and applications of coupled fluid-structure interactions of ships in waves and ocean acoustic environment. J. Hydrodyn. 28, 923–936. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1001-6058(16)60694-7
- Wu, Y., Maeda, H., Kinoshita, T., 1997. The second order hydrodynamic actions on a flexible body. J. Inst. Ind. Sci. 49, 8–19.
- Wu, Y., Ding, J., Li, Z., Ni, X., Wu, X., Tian, C., 2017a. Hydroelastic responses of VLFS deployed near islands and reefs, in: Proceedings of the International Conference on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering - OMAE. Trondheim, Norway. https://doi.org/10.1115/OMAE2017-62680
- Wu, Y., Ding, J., Tian, C., Li, Z., Wang, X., Zhang, Z., 2017b. Hydroelastic Behaviors of VLFSs in Complicated Ocean Environment, in: International Workshop on Ship and Marine Hydrodynamics. Taiwan.
- Wu, Y., Li, L., Song, Z., Lin, X., 2019. Risk assessment on offshore photovoltaic power generation projects in China based on a fuzzy analysis framework. J. Clean. Prod. 215, 46– 62. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2019.01.024
- Wu, Y., Wang, D., Riggs, H.R., Cengiz Ertekin, R., 1993. Composite singularity distribution method with application to hydroelasticity. Mar. Struct. 6, 143–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/0951-8339(93)90017-W
- Wu, Y.S., 1984. Hydroelasticity of floating bodies. Hydroelasticity Float. Bodies.
- Xia, D., Kim, J., Ertekin, R.C., 1999. The Effect of Shoreline Proximity on the Hydroelastic Response of a Floating Runway, in: Proc. 18th Int. Conf. on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering. p. 8pp.
- Xu, P., Wellens, P.R., 2022. Fully nonlinear hydroelastic modeling and analytic solution of largescale floating photovoltaics in waves. J. Fluids Struct. 109, 103446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfluidstructs.2021.103446
- Xu, S., Wang, S., Guedes Soares, C., 2019. Review of mooring design for floating wave energy converters. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.05.027
- Yang, Peng, Gu, X., Chao, T., Liu, X., 2015. Motion Responses of Floating Structures Near Small Islands. https://doi.org/10.1115/OMAE2015-42396
- Yang, P., Li, Z., Wu, Y., Wen, W., Ding, J., Zhang, Z., 2019a. Boussinesq-Hydroelasticity coupled model to investigate hydroelastic responses and connector loads of an eight-module VLFS near islands in time domain. Ocean Eng. 190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2019.106418
- Yang, P., Liu, X., Wang, Z., Zong, Z., Wu, Y., 2019b. Hydroelastic responses of a 3-module VLFS in the waves influenced by complicated geographic environment. Ocean Eng. 184, 121–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2019.05.020
- Yang, P, Liu, X.L., Ding, J., 2015. Hydroelastic responses of a VLFS in the waves influenced by complicated geographic environment, in: The 7th International Conference on Hydroelasticity in Marine Technology. Split, Croatia, pp. 16–19.
- Yang, S.-H., Ringsberg, J.W., Johnson, E., Hu, Z., Bergdahl, L., Duan, F., 2018. Experimental and numerical investigation of a taut-moored wave energy converter: A validation of simulated buoy motions. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. Part M J. Eng. Marit. Environ. 232. https://doi.org/10.1177/1475090217735954

- Yang, X.Y., Zhang, H.S., H. T. Li, 2017. Wave radiation and diffraction by a floating rectangular structure with an opening at its bottom in oblique seas. J. Hydrodyn. Ser B 06, 152–164.
- Yang, Y., Zhu, R., Chen, X., Jiang, Y., 2018. Numerical study on fluid resonance of 3-D multibodies by a non-reflection numerical wave tank. Appl. Ocean Res. 80, 166–180.
- Zhang, C., Magee, A.R., Fonseca, N., Hellan, Ø., Ang, K.K., 2020. Hydrodynamic Responses and Loads of a Model Floating Hydrocarbon Storage Tank System for Concept Validation and Numerical Verification, in: Lecture Notes in Civil Engineering. pp. 155–171. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8743-2\_8
- Zhang, H., Xu, D., Lu, C., Qi, E., Hu, J., Wu, Y., 2015. Amplitude death of a multi-module floating airport. Nonlinear Dyn. 79, 2385–2394. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11071-014-1819-x
- Zhang, H.C., Xu, D.L., Lu, C., Qi, E.R., Tian, C., Wu, Y.S., 2017. Connection effect on amplitude death stability of multi-module floating airport. Ocean Eng. 129, 46–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2016.11.011
- Zhang, J., Benoit, M., 2021. Wave-bottom interaction and extreme wave statistics due to shoaling and de-shoaling of irregular long-crested wave trains over steep seabed changes. J. Fluid Mech. 912, 1–34. https://doi.org/10.1017/jfm.2020.1125
- Zhang, J., Benoit, M., Kimmoun, O., Chabchoub, A., Hsu, H.C., 2019. Statistics of extreme waves in coastal waters: Large scale experiments and advanced numerical simulations. Fluids 4, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.3390/fluids4020099
- Zhang, X., Beck, R.F., 2008. Three-Dimensional Large Amplitude Body Motions in Waves. J. Offshore Mech. Arct. Eng.
- Zhang, X., Beck, R.F., 2007. Computations for large-amplitude two-dimensional body motions. J. Eng. Math. 58, 177–189.
- Zhao, B.B., 2010. Numerical Simulations Method of Three-Dimensional Nonlinear Waves Based on G-N Theory. Numer. Simulations Method Three-dimensional Nonlinear Waves Based G-N Theory [D].
- Zhao, C., Zhang, J., Huang, W., 2007. Vibration reduction of floating elastic plates in water waves. Mar. Struct. 20, 71–99.
- Zhao, D., Hu, Z., Zhou, K., Chen, G., Chen, X., Feng, X., 2018. Coupled analysis of integrated dynamic responses of side-by-side offloading FLNG system. Ocean Eng. 168, 60–82.
- Zhao, H., Xu, D., Zhang, H., Xia, S., Shi, Q., Ding, R., Wu, Y., 2019. An optimization method for stiffness configuration of flexible connectors for multi-modular floating systems. Ocean Eng. 181, 134–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceaneng.2019.03.039
- Zheng, Y.H., Shen, Y.M., You, Y.G., Wu, B.J., Jie, D.S., 2004a. On the radiation and diffraction of water waves by a rectangular structure with a sidewall. Ocean Eng. 31, p.2087-2104.
- Zheng, Y.H., You, Y.G., Shen, Y.M., 2004b. On the radiation and diffraction of water waves by a rectangular buoy. Ocean Eng. 31, 1063–1082.
- Zhu, H., Hu, C., Sueyoshi, M., Yoshida, S., 2020. Integration of a semisubmersible floating wind turbine and wave energy converters: an experimental study on motion reduction. J. Mar. ence Technol. 25, 667–674.